Bethel University

Spark

All Electronic Theses and Dissertations

2019

Association Between Study Abroad Experiences and Ethnocultural **Empathy**

Julia Jean Crumrine Winn Bethel University

Follow this and additional works at: https://spark.bethel.edu/etd



Part of the Educational Leadership Commons

Recommended Citation

Winn, J. J. (2019). Association Between Study Abroad Experiences and Ethnocultural Empathy [Doctoral dissertation, Bethel University]. Spark Repository. https://spark.bethel.edu/etd/664

This Doctoral dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by Spark. It has been accepted for inclusion in All Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Spark.

Association Between Study Abroad Experiences and Ethnocultural Empathy

by Julia Jean Crumrine Winn

A dissertation submitted to the faculty of Bethel University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Education

Saint Paul, MN 2019

Approved by Advisor: Dr. Joel Frederickson Reader: Dr. Mary Lindell Reader: Dr. John Addleman

Abstract

The ability to interact and interrelate with people from other cultures and ethnicities has great value in a world becoming increasingly more global in its orientation. Not only have institutions invested time and resources to this end, students have become increasingly interested in these opportunities as well. The purpose of this study was to determine whether participation in a study abroad program at a private, liberal arts university in Minnesota correlated to an overall higher level of ethnocultural empathy among participating students. The study investigated whether there was a correlation between higher levels of enthocultural empathy, as measured by the Empathic Feeling & Expression subscale, and duration of study or gender of the participant. A 2 (gender) X 5 (study abroad experience) ANCOVA was used to analyze the data. The independent variables were gender and study abroad experience, year in school was the covariate. Analyses of these data indicate that semester-long study abroad experiences may increase ethnocultural empathy (p=.076). There was no evidence that interim (3 week) study abroad experiences increased ethnocultural empathy.

Dedication

For Christian, Jonah and Elijah

My Champion, my Rock and my Tree.

I love my excellent men.

Acknowledgements

I would like to begin by expressing my deep gratitude to my Heavenly Father for providing me not only this opportunity, but also the tremendous support system necessary to complete this work. I am humbled and grateful to be entrusted with so much and hope that the effort here will be of use to Him.

One of the most important pillars of support has ever been and always will be my amazing and brilliant husband, Christian. His consistently wise counsel, ceaseless cheerleading and evident pride in me have been fuel for my fire. He has given me space, time, encouragement, and unconditional love from day one, and I wouldn't be here without him. Thank you for celebrating my strength. I love you, Christian.

I also want to acknowledge my exceptional sons, Jonah Augustine Winn and Elijah Thomas Winn. I am so deeply proud to be your Mom. Thank you for giving me the freedom to pursue this work, and for cheering me on along the way.

Thank you to my parents, John and Debbie. Your imagination for me has always been bigger than mine was for myself. Thank you for always believing in me. I am beyond grateful for our tabletop conversations, cabin times, and poolside chats. You are my strong, sturdy, trustworthy roots and no matter where I go, I never doubt who I am.

I would also like to acknowledge my excellent committee members, and in particular Dr. Joel Frederickson. Joel, I would likely not have finished without your generosity and encouragement. Time spent talking things through with you made the lifting so much easier, and your data expertise gave me confidence to tackle new challenges. John and Mary, I am also deeply grateful for you both. Reading draft after draft of a dissertation and all that entails is no easy task. Your time and sincere attention

have been deeply appreciated. Thank you all for improving my thinking and calling me to a higher standard.

Finally, thank you to the rest of my family, friends, and colleagues who, at different times, provided encouragement, love, and wisdom along the way. This work is the product of countless people lifting me up, allowing me to reach higher than I ever thought possible.

Table of Contents

List of Tables 10)
Chapter One: Introduction	1
Background of the Study	1
Statement of the Problem.	3
Purpose of the Study14	4
Research Questions 14	4
Significance of the Study	5
Rationale	5
Definition of Terms. 17	7
Study Abroad Program	7
Culture	3
Empathy18	3
Cultural Empathy	9
Ethnocultural Empathy 20	С
Assumptions and Limitations	1
Nature of the Study	1

Organization of the Remainder of the Study	22
Chapter Two: Literature Review.	23
Introduction	23
Study Abroad	23
Perceived Outcomes: Intercultural Skills and Reduced Ethnocentrism	25
Ethnocentrism and Empathy	. 28
Ethnocultural Empathy	. 30
Program Design	33
Duration	36
Transformational and experiential learning	39
Measuring Ethnocultural Empathy and Basic Empathy	42
The Scale of Ethnocultural Empathy	44
Chapter Three: Methodology	46
Philosophy and Justification.	. 46
Research Design Strategy.	. 46
Theoretical Framework	. 47
Research Questions and Hypotheses	48

	Variables	49
	Instrumentation and Protocols.	49
	Sampling Design.	51
	Data Collection Procedures	52
	Data Analysis	53
	Limitations and Methodology	53
	Ethical Considerations.	54
Ch	apter Four: Results	. 56
	Introduction	56
	Sample	56
	Scale Reliability	57
	Correlations	57
	Hypothesis one and two	. 57
	Hypothesis three	. 62
	Hypothesis four	62
Ch	apter Five: Overview of Study	65
	Overview of Study	65

Research Questions and Hypotheses.	65
Conclusions	66
Implications and Recommendations.	. 70
Concluding Comments.	. 71
References	72
Appendices	. 90
A: IRB Recommendation Letter	. 90
B: Campus Life Survey 2016.	. 91

List of Tables

1: Means by Study Abroad Experience, Adjusted for Year in
School
2: LSD Post Hoc Comparison of Ethnocultural Empathy by Study Abroad
Experience 61
3: Ethnocultural Empathy Means by Gender, Adjusted for Year in
School63
4: Ethnocultural Empathy Means by Gender and Study Abroad Experience,
Adjusted for Year in School
5: 2 (Gender) X 5 (Study Abroad Experience) ANCOVA table with Year in
School as Covariate

Chapter One: Introduction

Living in an increasingly diverse and globally-minded world, the ease of travel and accessibility of technology bring people together with greater speed than ever before. Every year, western society is becoming more ethnically and culturally diverse (Mlekov & Widell, 2003). An increasingly important aspect of being both well educated and globally competent is an appreciation of and sensitivity to other cultures. The ability to demonstrate intercultural agility and successfully interact with cultures around the globe has never been more important. Universities have rightly begun to recognize the role they play in developing these competencies in their graduates. Richard Wood (1991), president of Earlham College, stated, "... we must recognize that it is central to develop graduates who can cope creatively with the modern, independent world" (p. 10) and "see problems in a multidimensional framework and ... empathize with people from other cultures" (p. 10). Both institutions and future employers increasingly look for students to have developed strong intercultural competencies (Hunter, White, & Godbey, 2006; Tarrant, 2010).

Background of the Study

The ability to interact and interrelate with people from other cultures and ethnicities has great value in a world becoming increasingly more global in its orientation. While this kind of cultural competency has clear educational and economic value, there is also important social value. Research has also indicated that a lack of empathy for others is linked to both intergroup aggression (Struch & Schwartz, 1989) and social dominance orientation (Pratto, Sidanius, Stallworth, & Malle, 1994). Pro-social actions and a justice-centered orientation are related to the presence of empathy

(Hoffman, 1994; Hoffman, 2008). Research has indicated empathy plays a key role in all types of social interactions, both professional and informal (Davis, 1994), and that the presence of empathy can improve relations between different ethnic groups and subcultures, counteracting hostile behaviors and attitudes (Litvack-Miller, McDougall, & Romney, 1997).

Empathy implies an ability to step into the mind of another, and to understand experiences from that unique point of view (Tettegah & Anderson, 2007). As Wood (1991) stated, in order to be competent in a global environment, one must be able to not only demonstrate awareness and appreciation for other cultures, but also demonstrate empathy. One must be open to accepting the value of other epistemologies, using those lenses to interpret experiences and cultural interactions.

Many colleges and universities have invested heavily in programming and travel opportunities to promote this type of intercultural competency in their students (Institute for International Education, 2016; American Council on Education Report, 2000). At the outset, study abroad programming was designed as a general education model focusing on language and cultural training designed primarily for women, but that has shifted dramatically in the last 50 years (Burn, 2003). Study abroad programs are now generally thought of as an effective means of offering experiential opportunities to develop empathy, ostensibly equipping learners to be effective members in their local communities and beyond. Not only have institutions invested time and resources to this end, students have become increasingly interested in these opportunities as well. In fact, between the 1994-1995 and 2014-2015 academic school years, there was an increased rate of participation in study abroad of about 300% (Institute of International Education,

2016). There has been increasing governmental attention as well. The U.S. Department of Education and the U.S. State Department began celebrating an International Education Week (Banks & Erbland, 2002), and the U.S. Department of State announced the creation of a study abroad office, signaling an increasing commitment to the number of students choosing to include study abroad as part of their educational endeavors (Strange & Gibson, 2017).

While these programs have become increasingly popular and purport to have great effect in developing cultural competency, there is need for more research to support the claim (Anderson & Lawton, 2011; Sutton & Rubin, 2004). Questions remain regarding whether or not all study abroad programs deliver what they claim, and whether or not certain program models more effective at increasing empathy in participants than others.

Studies have been conducted with the intent of providing accountability, attempting to measure the effectiveness of such programs with regard to student outcomes. These previous studies have focused primarily on academic outcomes (Pedersen, 2010), data on participation and satisfaction (Engle & Engle, 2003; McLeod & Wainwright, 2009), motivation (Barbuto Jr., Beenen, & Tran, 2015), or global citizenry (Tarrant, Rubin, & Stoner, 2014).

Statement of the Problem

More than ever, it is becoming a necessity for college graduates to demonstrate ethnocultural empathy in order to be effective and successful as global citizens (Hunter et al., 2006; Tarrant et al., 2014; Wood, 1991). Industry is looking to higher education to include this in their curriculum. While study abroad programs would seem a likely way

to develop such capacities, there is a need to build a body of research on such programs to measure their effect on cultural sensitivity or empathy (Anderson & Lawton, 2011; Palmer & Menard-Warwick, 2012; Salisbury, An, & Pascarella, 2013; Stebleton, Soria, & Cherney, 2013). The measure used most frequently in the current body of literature is qualitative student surveys, which rely heavily on anecdotal evidence and self-reported gains in empathy and awareness. Some have argued that these study abroad programs are often ill-defined, with no reliable, measureable results regarding intercultural goals (Ritz, 2011; Tarrant et al., 2014).

There is a clear lack of research using an instrument with proven psychometric measurement properties to determine if there is a relationship between study abroad programs and students developing an increased empathy towards other cultures (Ritz, 2011; Tarrant et al., 2014). While there is a common assumption that there is correlation between such travel programs and increased empathy, little is based on quantifiable data. Moreover, questions may remain as to whether one program type might be superior to another, specifically if we see evidence that indicates a relationship between duration of program and increased ethnocultural empathy among participants.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study was to determine whether participation in a study abroad program at Bethel University, a private, liberal arts university in Minnesota, correlated to an overall higher level of ethnocultural empathy among participating students. The study investigated whether there was a correlation between higher levels of enthocultural empathy and duration of study or gender of the participant.

Research Questions

During the course of this study, the following research questions guided the investigation:

- 1. What difference, if any, exists in the ethnocultural empathy score of students based on participation in a study abroad program?
- 2. What difference, if any, exists between the ethnocultural empathy of participating students based on the duration of the abroad study experience (interim vs. semester-length)?
- 3. What difference, if any, exists in the ethnocultural empathy of participating students based on gender?
- 4. What interactions, if any, in the ethnocultural empathy scores exist between study abroad experiences and gender?

Significance of the Study

Universities and students alike are committing valuable resources and time toward the creation and participation in international study opportunities in order to develop strong intercultural competencies among graduates of these programs (Hunter et al., 2006; Tarrant, 2010; Tarrant et al., 2014). Because study abroad programs come at substantial expense, requiring commitment from both institutions and students alike, it is necessary to understand exactly what relationship there might be between these types of programs and learner empathy (Hensley & Sell, 1979). While opportunities like this have increased in popularity, there is a call for a continuation of research to explore possible correlation (Anderson & Lawton, 2011; Ritz, 2011; Sutton & Rubin, 2004; Tarrant et al., 2014). To this point, studies have lacked a quantitative component, relying almost entirely on student survey and anecdotal reporting (Ritz, 2011; Tarrant et al.,

2014). Adding to the body of research by using a quantitative instrument with adequate psychometric properties that might indicate a relationship between study abroad and ethnocultural empathy would contribute to the larger discussion within the field.

This study adds to the body of literature that is being developed around the actual versus perceived relationship between study abroad programs and empathy by adding quantitative data analysis. This study reviewed archival data collected during a student life survey given by Bethel University during the Fall of 2016. This survey included a subscale from the Scale of Ethnocultural Empathy. The data set collected from the scale was analyzed alongside gender of respondents, as well as duration of participation in a study abroad program. The goal was to see if there is correlation between respondent empathy level and the duration of study abroad, and to see if gender appeared to be an influence.

It is clear that cultural empathy is a highly desirable, and necessary, skill in this increasingly globally-minded world (Bretag & van, 2017; Stebleton et al., 2013). Relationship between program components and individual empathy will be crucial as institutions and individuals justify the resources they will dedicate toward that end.

Rationale

Past studies on the effectiveness of study abroad programs have focused primarily on academic outcomes (Pedersen, 2010), data on participation and satisfaction (Engle & Engle, 2003; McLeod & Wainwright, 2009), motivation (Barbuto Jr. et al., 2015), global awareness (Chieffo & Griffiths, 2004), or global citizenry (Tarrant et al., 2014). More recently there have been examinations on the impact of study abroad programs on the increase in global mindset and empathy, but these have been more qualitative in nature

(Stebleton et al., 2013). This study would add to the body of quantitative data on this topic (Anderson & Lawton, 2011; Ballestas & Roller, 2013).

The goal for this study was to determine whether participation in a study abroad program at Bethel University, a private, liberal arts university in Minnesota, appeared to be correlated with a higher level of ethnocultural empathy among participating students. The study also investigated whether there appeared to be a correlation between duration of study or gender of the participant.

Definition of Terms

Study Abroad Program. Since the 1950s, study abroad programs have become increasingly ubiquitous. Starting as a programming option that focused on language acquisition and cultural training mostly for females, study abroad has increasingly become a popular option for developing both a student's professional qualifications and cultural competence (Burn, 2003).

While there is no typical study abroad program, duration of travel is one way to distinguish between offerings. Most universities offer both semester length and one month interim length international programs, and some even offer full year experiences. In the earlier years, because language acquisition was seen as a primary driver, these programs were typically long-term, ranging from a semester to a year. Because of the shift in focus, short-term options have become much more popular, making up a large percentage of all student participants. This popularity can also be explained by cost-effectiveness as well as evidence in the literature that suggests learning still occurs (Hachtmann, 2012; Perry, Stoner, & Tarrant, 2012). The Institute for the International

Education of Students (IES) reported a sharp decline in full-year participants across the decades, from 72% in 1950s and 60s to only 20% in the 1990s (Dwyer, 2004).

Study abroad programs can also be categorized by the type of learning experiences offered. Longer term, faculty-led study tours, primarily focusing on content, while also offering students an opportunity to familiarize themselves in a general way with other cultures, were traditionally a popular option. However, given the desire to address cost and develop practical professional skills, it is now quite common for schools to offer shorter programs, comprised of practical work and immersive experiences in host countries. Some programs direct students to local universities or home stays in country, and are taught by local university faculty, while other immersive study abroad programs are led by faculty from the home university (Dwyer, 2004; Walters, Charles, & Bingham, 2017).

Culture. Culture is defined by Pedersen (1991) as learned perspectives that are unique to a particular community and shared across different groups within that larger community. Culture guides behaviors, beliefs, and one's personal and social meaning. These patterns are recognizable to other members of the culture and allow for seamless social interaction and integration among its members. When these patterns are taken out of context or misconstrued by an outsider to the culture, misunderstandings can arise. Weinberg (2003) described the concept of culture as an accumulated set of rituals, values, customs and traditions created by people to understand, interpret and give meaning to the world.

Empathy. Derived from the Greek term *empathia*, empathy means coming to an understanding of another by entering their world. The term empathy has been used

across multiple domains, including psychotherapy, neuroscience, medical education, social work, philosophy, developmental psychology, literary studies, and anthropology, without a single, agreed upon definition (Swan, Riley, & Australian Association for Research, in Education, 2012). Empathy appeared in German philosophy over 250 years ago as einfühlung, and was defined as using imagination to take another's perspective (Tettegah & Anderson, 2007). Since then there have been a variety of definitions, and many have argued about the various degrees to which empathy is affective, cognitive, or multi-dimensional, but what is agreed upon is that the process of perspective-taking is involved (Eisenberg & Strayer, 1987). This ambiguity in definition also demonstrates that there is agreement that empathy is not a single process, but a complex series of interrelated sub-skills and systems (Swan & Riley, 2015). Duan and Hill (1996) identified several common definitions of empathy and theories that refer to empathy as a general ability or personality trait. Although they concluded that empathy could be both learned or innately part of one's personality, some people are naturally more empathetic than others (Duan & Hill, 1996).

Cultural Empathy. Empathy is a heavily researched topic in literature, but not in its relationship to culture and ethnicity (Dyche & Zayas, 2001; Green, 1995). The notion of cultural empathy is a relatively recent addition to the literature, and is often used interchangeably with other terminology to describe empathy in cross-cultural contexts (Ivey, Ivey, & Simek-Downing, 1987; Junn, Morton, & Yee, 1995; Ridley & Lingle, 1996). Ridley and Lingle (1996) were the first researchers to use and define the term "cultural empathy." They argued that true empathy must go beyond general, basic empathy, to also include understanding and acceptance of another's culture. Ridley and

Lingle identified three component aspects of what they termed cultural empathy in their research, which included cognitive, affective and communicative aspects. They defined the cognitive aspect as an intellectual process of both perspective taking and self-differentiation. The affective component included the emotional and expressive response to a situation or condition. Finally, the communicative aspect includes both seeking to further understand another's perspective and conveying accurate understanding, either verbally or through actions (Ridley & Lingle, 1996). This multifaceted definition lays part of the foundational, operational basis for what Wang et al. (2003) referred to as ethnocultural empathy.

Ethnocultural Empathy. According to Wang et al. (2003), ethnocultural empathy is both a learned ability and personal trait comprised of three dimensions: intellectual empathy, empathic emotions, and the communication between them. The researchers asserted that because ethnocultural empathy is both learned and a personal trait, it can be assessed. They operationalize ethnocultural empathy based on the theoretical discussions of general and culturally specific empathy (Wang et al., 2003).

Ethnocultural empathy is described as "the ability to understand a racially or ethnically different person's thinking and/or feeling" (Wang et al., 2003, p. 222). It can also be described as the ability to take on another person's ethnocultural perspective and share others' experiences and feelings of being discriminated against (Ridley & Lingle, 1996; Vescio, Sechrist, & Paolucci, 2003).

There are three aspects to this type of empathy. First of all, the participant must engage intellectual empathy to begin to take on the perspective of another. Secondly, the participant must engage empathic emotions in order to feel something from the point of

view of that person's racial or ethnic identity. Finally, communicative empathy is how one expresses the ethnoculturally empathic thoughts and feelings toward members of that racial or ethnic group. Using these three components, Wang et al. (2003) developed a tool to measure empathy specifically related to ethnic and racial groups other than one's own.

Assumptions and Limitations

The survey was distributed via email to all students enrolled at Bethel University during the fall semester in 2016. Participation in the survey was entirely voluntary and therefore it can be assumed all questions were answered openly and honestly.

Additionally, since subjects were not sensitized to the questions prior to seeing them for the first time in the survey itself, it can be hypothesized that the recorded responses were more genuine and honest as the subjects answered with no prior preparation to what the "correct" answer might be.

The survey was sent to 2,711 students, and of those surveyed 778 opted to answer the sections that will be considered in this study. The design of this study is not a pre/post test model, which is the most typical design for measuring impact of abroad study programs in order to determine growth. The data gathered only represents data at a single point in time.

Nature of the Study

To answer the proposed research questions, a quantitative, correlational study will be conducted to review data that was collected as part of a convenience sample. Because the data was part of an archival data set, this method was chosen in order to discern whether a possible link between the ethnocultural empathy and participation in study

abroad could be identified. Gender was also considered. If such a correlation is discovered, this study opens the door for further institutional investigation and program review of study abroad offerings in order to specify which programs might be most effective

The data to be reviewed in this study were collected by the Office of Institutional Assessment at Bethel University. Permission was granted for data files to be shared and analyzed for this study. The omnibus survey was compiled by university researchers. The subscale of Empathic Feeling and Expression (Wang et al., 2003) was included in order to gather data on ethnocultural empathy. This subscale was used with permission from the scale author, although the Scale of Ethnocultural Empathy is also permissible for use as an open source document.

Organization of the Remainder of the Study

This study is organized into five chapters, a references section and appendices. Chapter Two presents a review of related literature regarding current research on study abroad programs and the measures of their effectiveness. Chapter Three delineates research design and methodology of the study: the instrument used to gather data, the procedures followed, and the sample information. Analysis of the data and a discussion is presented in Chapter Four. Chapter Five contains summary, conclusions, and recommendations for areas of further study. The study concludes with a reference section and appendices.

Chapter Two: Literature Review

Introduction

The purpose of this chapter is to present an overview of the research literature regarding the current state of study abroad programs and their perceived outcomes. This chapter will also attempt to develop a robust definition of empathy, drawing a comparison between ethnocultural empathy and basic empathy, and its relationship to reduced ethnocentrism.

This chapter is divided into six sections: (1) current popularity of study abroad programs among college and university students, (2) perceived benefits and outcomes of these programs, (3) inverse relationship between ethnocentrism and empathy, (4) ethnocultural empathy as opposed to basic empathy, (5) Transformational Learning Theory and how program design and duration can enhance empathy building, and (6) the Scale of Ethnocultural Empathy (SEE).

Study Abroad

Study abroad opportunities are a popular choice among undergraduates worldwide, and have continued to grow each year in overall participation. According to figures provided by the Open Doors Report on International Educational Exchange, 325,339 U.S. students studied abroad in the 2015-16 school year for academic credit (Institute of International Education, 2017). This number represents an increase of 3.8% from the prior year. Data indicate participation in study abroad programs by U.S. undergraduate students has more than tripled in the past two decades, and currently one in 10 undergraduates will study abroad as part of their college experience (Institute of International Education, 2017).

Although the rate of increase has slowed in recent years, overall growth remains on the upward trajectory. While the cost of such programs can be high, researchers suggest the continued interest may be a result of global current events, a desire to gain global and intercultural communication skills, or that participants may be specifically encouraged to study abroad by both institutions and employers in their field of study (Hunter et al., 2006; Tarrant, 2010). Some studies indicated student motivations include finishing coursework quickly, experiencing cultural immersion, the allure of challenge, and using the experience as a way to develop "soft skills" that might be appealing to employers in the future (Bretag & van der Veen, 2017). Colleges and universities across the United States have increasingly looked to their study abroad offerings as a key component for developing such intercultural competency (Stebleton et al., 2013).

Study abroad programs for educational credit can vary greatly. Given the range of options - including length of stay, program type, and program design - questions remain as to whether all abroad study programs of equal benefit. It might be possible that certain program configurations and durations yield greater value in the development of intercultural empathy than others.

One of the typical ways a study abroad program might be distinguished or evaluated for seeming impact is by program length. Traditionally, study abroad was conducted over a long-term (full-academic year) or mid-term (semester-long) length of stay. At its inception, longer duration was considered necessary in order for a richer language experience to emerge (Burn, 2003). It could be inferred that the longer one studied abroad, the more impactful the experience. However, trends are shifting. While there has been an overall increase in student study abroad participation, there has been a

decrease in the amount of time spent on these experiences. In 1985, 18% of U.S. college students spent more than a month abroad, but by 1995 only 10% spent more than a month (Burn, 2003). In fact, although the number of students studying abroad has increased dramatically (the greatest jump being a 232% increase from 1985-86 through 2001-2002) there has been a steady decline in the number of students studying abroad for a full academic year (Institute of International Education, 2017). Over the past two decades, there has been an increase in the popularity of short-term programs, which range between two and eight weeks in length. Of U.S. undergraduate students who studied abroad in the 2015-16 school year, 63% opted for short-term programs, 35% for mid-term length, and only 3% for the long-term (Institute of International Education, 2017).

Although there is evidence that any type of abroad experience (recreational, volunteer, service learning, work experience) can yield some beneficial improvement in terms of global and intercultural competencies, it appears that more formal, educationally driven programs yield a more significant increase in student development of such skills (Engle & Engle, 2003). This is especially true when such courses are well designed, including intense cultural involvement, opportunities for reflection, and guided conversations with skilled faculty (Stebleton et al., 2013). This review of literature will focus only on research regarding programs offered through educational institutions for academic credit.

Perceived Outcomes: Intercultural Skills and Reduced Ethnocentrism

Historically, language acquisition was cited as a primary reason for abroad study experiences. However, these programs are now promoted as a vehicle for teaching cultural competence and intercultural skills (Burn, 2003; Hachtmann, 2012). Unlike

language learning, which can be easily assessed for growing fluency, intercultural skills are more difficult to measure, and equally difficult to define. Study abroad experiences might well lead to increased intercultural skills, but it is unclear how to intentionally design programs to meet this end and how to measure intercultural skills outcomes.

A common educational target for such programs is reducing participant ethnocentrism. Ethnocentrism can be defined as "the tendency to place one's own group (cultural, ethnic, or religious) in a position of centrality and worth and to create negative attitudes and behaviors toward other groups"(Neulip, 2006, p. 38). Ethnocentrism is not necessarily a sign of antipathy or disapproval of others, rather a descriptive state of being which can yield negative outcomes (Neuliep & McCroskey, 1997).

Ethnocentrism is rooted in the idea that one's own cultural background is central to understanding all reality, whereas ethnorelativism is the ability to accept a variety of different standards and customs that then affect behavior in new interpersonal settings (Neulip, 2006). Neuliep (2006) believed that ethnocentrism is a universal phenomenon that can influence and even distort the perception of others. While it may positively influence an individual's attachment to their own group or lead to healthy patriotic feelings, it can also prevent them from seeking to understand other perspectives and cultures. This can lead to a definitive roadblock in intercultural communication (Neulip, 2006; Neuliep & McCroskey, 1997).

On a practical level, the reduction of ethnocentrism should lead to enhanced intercultural communication skills (Neulip, 2006). Neulip (2006) described these skills as the ability to exchange verbal and non-verbal messages with individuals from another culture. The development of intercultural communication skills appears to be inversely

related to ethnocentric attitudes (Capell, Dean, & Veenstra, 2008). The less ethnocentric the worldview, the better one relates to people of other cultures.

Using the framework of ethnocentrism and ethnorelativism, Bennett (1993) developed a cross-cultural communication model of assessment of such skills. Bennett's (1993) "Developmental Model of Intercultural Sensitivity" postulates that people journey through a variety of responses to intercultural experiences, and that journey changes over time—it is evolutionary and dynamic. Individuals move through three ethnocentric states (stages of denial, defense, and minimization) and then through three ethnorelative states (acceptance, adaptation, and integration) (Bennett & Paige, 1993). Every experience moves a person along that continuum, either toward greater levels of integration or regressing towards more ethnocentric states.

These skills and adaptive abilities are becoming increasingly desirable in the workplace, and while there is evidence to suggest that study abroad programs can help expand the world views of their participants, have a positive effect on personal growth, and help achieve professional goals and inspire them to explore other cultures in the future, there is also research that indicates study abroad programs can negatively influence participant attitudes and level of ethnocentrism (Jackson, 2008; Kambutu & Nganga, 2008; Pedersen, 2010).

Social identity theory states that people use similarities and dissimilarities as a way to categorize and differentiate themselves from others (Tajfel & Turner, 1986). Ingroup members are evaluated in a more positive light than out-group members. In fact, the presence of an out-group is enough to foster attitudes of competition, and discrimination in members of the in-group, unless it is somehow counteracted (Tajfel &

Turner, 1986). However, in situations where participants become attuned to commonalities, thereby creating a common in-group identity, it is possible to develop positive feelings even in light of differences (Gaertner, Dovidio, & Bachman, 1996). Therefore, it is important these study abroad programs be well designed and offer enough dynamic, intercultural interaction.

Ethnocentrism and Empathy

Increasing empathy levels has been shown to be a powerful tool in the reduction of ethnocentrism, as well as improvement of interpersonal communication skills (Agroskin, 2010; Albiero & Matricardi, 2013; Chung & Bemak, 2002; Cundiff & Komarraju, 2008; Dejaeghere, Hooghe, & Claes, 2012; Palmer & Menard-Warwick, 2012; Williams, 2005). While elevating empathy and reducing levels of ethnocentrism can lead to improved intercultural skills, in particular communication skills, merely traveling abroad will not automatically deliver those results. (Jackson, 2008; Kambutu & Nganga, 2008; Pedersen, 2010). Instructional design appears to play an important role in fostering this outcome. Therefore, designers must carefully consider the structure and experiences offered within their programs. When a course is effective, heightened empathy, which will result in lower ethnocentric attitudes, is more likely to occur (McDowell, Goessling, & Melendez, 2012; Perry et al., 2012; Strange & Gibson, 2017; Walters et al., 2017).

Understanding what is meant by empathy can be dependent upon area of study.

The term empathy has been used across multiple domains, including psychotherapy,
neuroscience, medical education, social work, philosophy, developmental psychology,
literary studies, and anthropology, without a single, agreed upon definition (Swan et al.,

2012). Empathy appeared in German philosophy over 250 years ago as *einfühlung*, and was defined as using imagination to take another's perspective (Tettegah & Anderson, 2007). Since then there have been a variety of definitions, and many have argued about the various degrees to which empathy is affective, cognitive, or multi-dimensional, but what is agreed upon is that the process of perspective-taking is involved (Eisenberg & Strayer, 1987). This ambiguity in definition also demonstrates that there is agreement that empathy is not a single process, but a complex series of interrelated sub-skills and systems (Swan & Riley, 2015).

Interestingly, education, and specifically higher levels of education, can be associated with increased empathy (Alligood, 2007; Spencer, 2004). Studies have also found gender and age can be predictive of intrinsically higher empathy levels (DiLalla, Hull, & Dorsey, 2004; Eisenberg & Lennon, 1983; Endresen & Olweus, 2001; Schieman & Van Gundy, 2000).

Empathy is taking the perspective of another, but as Byrne (1971) suggested, some people might be more comprehensible to some than others. The similarity-attraction paradigm (Byrne, 1971) suggested that similarities in attitudes, values, or demographic characteristics increase attraction. Differences in these areas may lead to decreased attraction, alternatively causing feelings of threat or anxiety, resulting in avoidance and negative response to those of differing backgrounds (Byrne, 1997; Plant & Devine, 2003; Spencer-Rodgers & McGovern, 2002). In other words, the more similar the two parties are, the more easily it might be to achieve empathy.

This assumption has led to a field of inquiry in the study of empathy directed specifically at cultural difference and how that extra measure of difference might impede

empathic response. Rasoal et al. (2011a) identified obstacles that hinder people from feeling empathy for people from another culture:

- General lack of knowledge about cultures other than one's own;
- General lack of practical experience of being in cultures other than one's own;
- Lack of knowledge specific to the other's culture;
- Lack of practical experience specific to the other's culture;
- Lack of ability to perceive similarities and differences between the other's culture and one's own

In fact, there are many different research designs that have been developed to investigate the question of "What are barriers to developing empathy for another culture?" resulting in a range of terminology attempting to describe empathy in cross-cultural contexts. Such terms include: active empathy (Yamamoto, Silva, Justice, Chang, & Leong, 1993); cultural empathy (Ivey et al., 1987; Ridley & Lingle, 1996); empathic multicultural awareness (Junn et al., 1995); cultural role taking (Scott & Borodovsky, 1990); and ethnotherapeutic empathy (Parson, 1993). There are only slight differences in how these terms are defined in the literature. For the sake of this study, ethnocultural empathy will be used as an umbrella to cover all these terms.

Ethnocultural Empathy

Ridley and Lingle's (1996) work served as a foundational basis for Wang et al. (2003) in the development of the Scale of Ethnocultural Empathy. According to Ridely and Lingle (1996), ethnocultural empathy "involves a deepening of human empathic response to permit a sense of mutuality and understanding across great differences in values and expectations that cross-cultural exchange often involves" (p. 22). Ridley and

Lingle (1996) identified three essential elements for empathy within a cultural setting: cognitive, affective, and communicative. The study asserted that all three must be engaged simultaneously to effectively empathize in a culturally empathic manner.

Ethnocultural empathy is described as a particular type of empathy for people of an ethnocultural group different from one's own. (Wang et al., 2003) Wang et al. (2003) introduced the framework of ethnocultural empathy into psychology literature and hypothesized this type of empathy can be learned and therefore measured. Ethnocultural empathy implies something about the relationship between the empathizer, the receiver and the cultural context of the receiver (Rasoal, Eklund, & Hansen, 2011). Rasoal et al. (2011) defined it as feeling, understanding, and caring about what someone from another culture feels, understands and cares about.

Wang et al. (2003) conducted several studies on the importance of including cultural and ethnic aspects into the study of empathy, coining the term ethnocultural empathy. They identified several aspects that set ethnocultural empathy apart from basic, general empathy. The first is the need to consider the other person's cultural context when seeking to understand the perspective of another. The second is the ability to identify and control one's own subjective perception that might create prejudice against those outside of one's own cultural and ethnic background. Third, there must be practical experience of another culture to inform theoretical knowledge. It can be difficult to fully empathize or understand the perspective of someone from a different cultural group if there has not been previous contact with others outside of one's own cultural background. This experience can be gained through living in other countries for extended periods of time, or being in similar situations with other ethnic groups. Eklund

et al. (2009) investigated the relationship between empathy and prior similar experience and found that similar experience may be an important situational antecedent for feeling empathy for another person. Therefore, having direct experience with a culture other than one's own could support the development of empathy for one outside of one's own culture (Eklund, Andersson-Straberg, & Hansen, 2009).

Green (1995) asserted that western understanding of empathy cannot be universally applied to multi-cultural settings. Rather, authentic empathy – understanding of thoughts and feelings of another—would require direct experience with cultural context where those thoughts and feelings would originate. Without such direct experience, empathic response may not be thought satisfying or fair (Green, 1995). The direct cultural experience offered in study abroad programs has the potential to foster the kind of environment that could cause students to develop ethnocultural empathy.

Ethnocultural empathy has been shown to counteract hostile behavior and attitudes toward members of cultural out-groups (Litvack-Miller et al., 1997; Wang et al., 2003), elevate positive attitudes toward justice-related change (Batson, 1997), and reduce tension and conflict among groups (Van Der Zee & Van Oudenhoven, 2000). It is also positively related to helping behaviors and seems to be predictive of higher levels intercultural relational ability, which would create more positive relationships in the workplace and elsewhere (Van Der Zee & Van Oudenhoven, 2000). Parson (1993) found elevated ethnocultural empathy could change attitudes about diversity and cut through attitudes of ethnocentrism and racism.

Program Design

Although there is evidence to suggest any type of travel experience can lead to a change in empathy and world view, program design is a key component in creating lasting, positive growth (Stebleton et al., 2013). It takes more than mere exposure for a change in attitudes. In fact, students who return home without an opportunity for meaningful interaction, having only been exposed to differences and insulated from discomfort, have been shown to demonstrate higher levels of ethnocentrism upon return which leads to greater in-group identification (Jackson, 2008). Effective study abroad experiences should draw students out of their comfort zones instead of merely creating these zones abroad, which may insulate them from deeper learning experiences.

Adapting to cultural difference is the rewarding, difficult and essential challenge of study abroad experiences (Engle & Engle, 2003). Study abroad programs must be designed for meaningful interaction with people from different cultures for maximum change to occur.

While duration of stay has traditionally been one way to distinguish among programs and assign educational value to a study abroad experience, it cannot be assumed that duration of stay will lead to reduced ethnocentrism and enhanced empathy. Engle and Engle (2003) attempted to identify five classification levels to describe fundamental differences of design and quality found in study abroad programs. They designed a system that took a step toward representing each type of program opportunity more honestly and responsibly than the historical assumption that length of stay alone resulted in higher impact. While the levels presented indicate duration can be an important component, contributing to the overall program experience, the researchers were interested in developing richer dialogue about overall program design – one that

draws students out of their comfort zone (Engle & Engle, 2003). They laid out these program types along a continuum, following Bennett's lead (Bennett & Paige, 1993), with the intention of creating intentional experiences for students in order to move them as far as possible in the development of cultural skills. Engle and Engle's (2003) model began with the traditional measure of travel duration and suggests that heightened incountry experiences, including language training, work/volunteering and intercultural experiences will more deeply impact student outcomes.

In Engle and Engle's model (1993), they considered seven components as they located various program types on their classification system. These components comprise an important starting point for classification:

- Length of student travel
- Entry target-language competence
- Language used in course work
- Context of course work
- Types of student housing
- Provisions for guided/structured cultural interaction and experiential learning
- Guided reflection on cultural experience

The five levels, as defined by Engle and Engle (1993), are Study Tour, Short-Term Study, Cross-Cultural Contact Program, Cross-Cultural Encounter Program, and Cross-Cultural Immersion Program.

Level one: Study tour.

The study tour classification indicates a program that is primarily focused on content or aesthetic experience of a foreign country, not cultural encounters that might

lead to adaptation. Language acquisition is a not considered a primary component, and students would typically travel as a group. This type of experience might be the first international experience for many students. These experiences might last a few days to a few weeks.

Level two: Short-term study.

Within this classification system, Short-Term Study might last for a summer term or 3-8 weeks within a school year at an on-site location. Subject matter would be taught in English, but beginner level language would be offered as well. Housing might be inhome or with other students. There might be some cultural context offered, as well as an orientation program, however there might be no real provision for cultural interaction.

Level three: Cross-cultural contact program.

Moving through the levels, the duration of program extends. At this level, students might spend up to a semester in country, living with other students or other international students. Primary coursework would be taught in English, but the target language would be taught as well. In many ways, this level is similar to the Short-Term model, except for the extended length of stay.

Level four: Cross-cultural encounter program.

At level four, student stays last for a semester to a full academic year, and the expectation is that most of their coursework would be taught in the target language. This would obviously require more extensive language skills prior to travel. Students might live in homes, and participate in occasional integration activities. These would be coupled with some reflective opportunities, as well.

Level five: Cross-cultural immersion program.

At level five, expected to yield the most extensive results in terms of cultural adaptation, students stay for a semester to a year. It requires advanced language skill, and all activities, including extra-curricular, would be in the target language. Students would have home stays and participate regularly in cultural integration program. There might even be work internships or service learning opportunities. This level would also have many opportunities for reflection, mentoring, and research.

Although there are an unlimited ways a program may be designed, and no one program will fit perfectly into the classification system Engle and Engle (2003) put forth, it does provide a step forward in being able to define and communicate fairly what the experience of each program might yield and perhaps be predictive of how effective such a course might be in developing heightened cultural competence. It also places the focus on the importance of overall experiential design of a program, rather than just duration alone.

Duration.

While Engle and Engle (2003) broadened the categories, lengths of stay still factored in strongly to their scale system. Duration has been considered a key ingredient to meaningful learning in a study abroad context (Akande & Slawson, 2000; Billigmeier & Forman, 1975; Dwyer, 2004; Dwyer & Peters, 2004) yet this need not be the case. In 2004, Dwyer conducted a longitudinal study to examine whether this common wisdom was correct and if the effect of study abroad experiences had long-term impacts on participants. The study was designed to correlate student outcomes to program features. The study was conducted through the Institute for the International Education of

Students, which had over 50 years of data to draw upon, and a larger pool of survey participants than previous studies (Dwyer, 2004).

The findings indicated that in some cases studying abroad for a full year had a more significant impact than programs of lesser durations, which supports the prevailing wisdom. Not only was there a clear impact in the areas of language use, personal and intercultural development, career choice, and academic benefit, the data also demonstrated that the impact extended up to 50 years later, in some cases (Dwyer, 2004).

However, while the study supported the numerous benefits of a year-long program, it also found lasting benefits in certain areas with those who attended a much shorter summer study abroad option. Dwyer (2004) concluded that a well-designed program of six weeks could yield significant results, but that such a program would need to be carefully planned, expertly implemented, and require significant resources.

A 2012 study aiming to explore the effectiveness of a short-term study abroad program with advertising students also confirmed that a well-designed, shorter experience could have meaningful impact. Hachtmann (2012) conducted a mixed-methods study looking at levels of ethnocentrism on students studying abroad for only two weeks. The study focused on two travel experiences: one group which had a week of intensive preparation for their trip, followed by two weeks of travel in Germany led by an instructor from their home university, and the other which had eight weeks of training prior to travel, followed by two weeks of travel in Japan. This course was taught by an interdisciplinary team from the home university. Both groups were assessed pre- and post-travel using the Generalized Ethnocentrism (GENE) Scale (Neuliep & McCroskey, 1997). They were also required to complete a set of open-ended response questions.

Even after only two weeks, both groups demonstrated lower levels of ethnocentrism, and reported a greater awareness of in-group versus out-group cultures. Students also reported a greater appreciation and awareness of the importance of communication. Although the pre-travel assessments indicated the groups had a relatively low level of ethnocentrism prior to travel, the mean scores for both groups decreased significantly post-travel (Hachtmann, 2012). This suggests that even short-term study abroad programs can impact levels of ethnocentrism, contributing to increased intercultural communication skills and cultural competence (Capell et al., 2008), provided there is meaningful contact with the host culture and its people.

The higher levels of Engle and Engle's (2003) scale included experiences where students would have meaningful relational contact with cultural counterparts. This harkens back to Allport's et al. (1954) theory of intergroup contact, which proposed a set of factors necessary to reduce prejudice. He postulated four primary factors necessary for non-prejudicial encounters between those in the in-group and those in the out-group: 1) Equal status in the situation, 2) Common goals among participants, 3) Intergroup cooperation on goals, and 4) Support from authority, law or custom (Allport, Clark, & Pettigrew, 1954). Pettigrew (1998) extended this theory to include a fifth factor that must be in evidence—friendship potential. In order for there to truly be a reduction in negative attitudes, participants must have an opportunity for new learning about the other, shared emotional experiences and ongoing encounters that lead to changes in behaviors.

Participants must build a relationship, friendship, or affinity in order for long-term change to occur (Pettigrew, 1998).

Transformational and experiential learning.

Evidence suggests one must encounter a change of environment, not just a change of scenery. *Scenery* implies a mere backdrop that remains separate from the individual, while *environment* involves an interaction and interplay that is dynamic in nature (Engle & Engle, 2003), or as Pettigrew (1998) termed it, friendship potential. However, coming face to face with cultural differences can lead to challenging feelings and unexpected emotional responses. When that rich, sometimes unsettling, interaction takes place, opportunity to reflect on the experience is essential. The combination of these two elements creates a space for deep transformation (Mezirow, 1990, 1997).

Transformational Learning Theory suggests that through the process of active learning, reflection and placing ourselves in uncomfortable situations, participants are able to develop new and more nuanced perspectives and frames of reference (Mezirow, 1990, 1991). Transformative Learning has occurred when participants experience a change to their frame of reference as a result of an event or experience (Mezirow, 1997). Mezirow (1997) also suggested a four stage process to this work: 1) Elaborate an existing point of view, 2) Establish a new point of view, 3) Transform a point of view, 4) Become aware of the surrounding world and become critically reflective of one's environment and actions. The ability to change points of reference is what helps build global understanding, communication skills, analytical problem solving, and teamwork (Mezirow, 1997).

Transformative Learning, with the added element of discomfort, is an extension of Experiential Learning, which occurs when knowledge and meaning are enhanced by actual lived experience (Perry et al., 2012). Kolb (1984) asserted that learning occurs

with concrete experiences, abstract conceptualization, reflective observation and active experimentation. When all these elements are present, knowledge is constructed and learning occurs (Kolb, 1984). However, even when participants are steeped in active learning, it does not guarantee Experiential Learning has occurred. If a program does not allow enough time for interaction and reflection, then the results show less growth (Lutterman-Aguilar & Gingerich, 2002). If a program is designed with time for reflection, critical analysis, and synthesis, there is a much greater chance it will reach its intended potential (Lutterman-Aguilar & Gingerich, 2002). Even short-term study abroad programs have a high likelihood of students broadening their cultural perspective if a program is designed with these principles of Experiential Learning in mind (Tarrant, 2010).

Experiential Learning is often found in study abroad programs, but the added element of discomfort suggested by Mezirow (1990, 1991) is not necessarily included. By designing programs that require students to deeply engage with elements of a different culture and reflect upon discomfort and new learning, study abroad can offer students opportunities to interact with the people, culture and tradition of a country, arguably increasing student growth on Bennett's scale (Bennett & Paige, 1993; Strange & Gibson, 2017). Transformative Learning and Experiential Learning during study abroad experiences can potentially move students from perspectives of ethnocentrism and dualistic epistemologies to a new frame of reference that allows for cultural pluralism (Berwick & Whalley, 2000).

A possible example of this type of Transformative Learning growth can be found in a study of pre-service teachers who took part in a short-term study abroad experience

in Mexico (Palmer & Menard-Warwick, 2012). Researchers were looking to better understand how students might develop intercultural knowledge, skills and attitudes, and increase empathy. Without intending to, their study created similar conditions to what Mezirow (1990) described in situations of Transformative Learning. Participants were embedded in community by living with host families, visiting local schools and participating in other local events, as well as intensive language study. They became active members of their respective communities. Several participants reported this to be their first experience outside of their home state of Texas, so this level of intensity was challenging. Students were given tools and opportunities to build relationships within their host culture, and were also afforded opportunities to reflect on the challenges and discoveries they faced through dialogue journals. Researchers found that, while this experience was not comfortable or even positive for all the students, students' levels of self-reported empathy increased. Evidence suggested that the most profound results occurred when participants were placed in a situation where the limits of their own sense of empathy was tested, which then led them into a process of self-examination and critical awareness (Palmer & Menard-Warwick, 2012).

Borden (2007) investigated whether a particular type of in-country experience, service learning, would reduce ethnocentrism among students in a study abroad program. Participants were given the Generalized Ethnocentrism (GENE) scale (McCroskey, 2015; Neuliep, 2002) prior to a semester of service learning in a culture different from their own. They conducted a post-test at the conclusion of the program experience. Researchers found a significant decrease in levels of ethnocentrism among program participants at the end of the semester. Additional examination of students' reflective

journals appeared to indicate the service-learning format of the course was instrumental in their growth, providing them with deep, consistent, meaningful experiences that developed a deeper sense of empathy (Borden, 2007).

Research suggests that it is possible for students to have Transformative Learning occur on short-term study abroad experiences if such programs are designed with strong academic content as well as opportunities for students to live outside of their comfort zones (Bell, Gibson, Tarrant, Perry III, & Stoner, 2016). Strange and Gibson (2017) looked at whether or not Transformative Learning really does occur during study abroad programs, and to what extent length of program might impact that learning. The researchers used an online survey to collect data from approximately 950 students. Students were surveyed post-trip to measure the nature of their learning experience, and to determine whether Transformative Learning occurred. They found evidence that almost all the students experienced some level of transformative learning, and that they were aware of the experiential nature of their learning and deemed it an important part of their program. Researchers also found that, when a program was fewer than 18 days in length, there were significantly fewer indicators of transformative growth. This evidence supports the idea that even short-term study abroad experiences have the potential for meaningful impact if designed correctly (Strange & Gibson, 2017).

Measuring Ethnocultural Empathy and Basic Empathy

There is ongoing debate about how to measure empathy in multicultural settings.

There is also debate about whether there is adequate evidence that ethnocultural empathy and basic empathy are distinct constructs. This section examines two instruments

commonly used to measure empathy and ethnocultural empathy, and the validity of their design.

One of the tools commonly used to measure basic empathic response has been the Interpersonal Reactivity Index (IRI) (Davis, 1983). Prior to the work of Davis (1983), empathy measures had been unidimensional in design. The IRI is comprised of four subscales, which measure social functioning, self-esteem, emotionality, and sensitivity toward others. Evidence in the findings supported a multidimensional approach to empathy (Davis, 1980; Davis, 1983).

Wang et al. (2003) asserted that more work was needed to expand the study of empathy to include culture. The construct of the subsequent work, the Scale of Ethnocultural Empathy (SEE) (Wang et al., 2003), was multidimensional, composed of intellectual empathy, empathic emotions and the combination of two. This is much like Ridley and Lingle's (1996) multidimensional model of empathy, which is composed of cognitive, affective and communicative processes. Wang (2003) found ethnocultural empathy to be a distinct type of empathy that is directed toward people from a racial and ethnic cultural group different from one's own. Correlational analysis was used to compare the SEE with IRI (Davis, 1983) in order to determine whether there was a distinction between the two measures. While the SEE was moderately correlated with basic empathy, it was concluded basic empathy and ethnocultural empathy were indeed two distinctly unique constructs (Wang et al., 2003).

In 2011, another study was conducted to again explore whether there was a difference between ethnocultural empathy and basic empathy and whether the two constructs were distinct (Rasoal, Jungert, Hau, & Andersson, 2011b). Rasoal, et al.

(2012) investigated the association between the Interpersonal Reactivity Index (Davis, 1993) and the Scale of Ethnocultural Empathy (Wang et al., 2003) to explore distinctions between the two constructs. Researchers investigated whether there were background variables that would predict the two kinds of empathy. They found that both types of empathy were correlated and highly interdependent. They also found that they shared similar predictors for each type (Rasoal et al., 2011b).

The study concluded that ethnocultural empathy did not appear to be a unique type of empathy and the IRI and SEE were measuring the same things. However, two limitations of the study were that the sample was relatively homogeneous (most participants were ethnic Swedes), and the instrument was translated from English into Swedish. The researchers allowed that language used to measure empathy and ethnocultural empathy might not easily translate and could have impacted the findings (Rasoal, Jungert, Hau, & Andersson, 2011a; Rasoal et al., 2011b).

Although there may yet be debate over the overlap found between basic empathy and ethnocultural empathy, both the IRI and SEE have demonstrated their validity in measuring empathy levels.

The Scale of Ethnocultual Empathy.

There are few instruments currently available for evaluating cultural and ethnocultural empathy (Albiero & Matricardi, 2013). There are an increasing number of studies confirming the Scale of Ethnocultural Empathy as having good psychometric properties, validity across cultures, as well as support for its factorial structure, which seems to represent a promising instrument in the field of research (Brouwer & Boros, 2010; Rasoal et al., 2011a).

Wang et al. (2003) borrowed heavily from the conceptualization of cultural empathy found in Ridley and Lingle (1996) in the construction of their instrument. In their construct of ethnocultural empathy, they operationalized their work around the components of intellectual empathy, empathic emotions and the communication between those two aspects. In discussing these three dimensions, Wang et al. (2003) described intellectual empathy as the ability to understand the thinking and/or feeling of a person racially or ethnically different from oneself. The empathic emotion component entails the ability to take on the feelings of another person from another culture or race, or to have an emotional response to the emotions displayed by a person or persons from another ethnocultural group. Finally, the communicative empathy aspect is the expression of intellectual and empathic emotions toward members of an ethnic or cultural group different from one's own. This can be expressed in either words or actions (Wang et al., 2003).

Wang et al. (2003) developed the Scale of Ethnocultural Empathy as a quantitative instrument to measure awareness, acceptance and attitudes toward people from other cultures or other ethnicities. The Scale of Ethnocultural Empathy (Wang et al., 2003) is a 31-item, 6-point Likert-type scale, ranging from strongly disagree (1) to strongly agree (6). Individuals who score higher on this measure are thought to have greater empathy for cultures and ethnicities different from their own. Ethnocultural empathy is a multidimensional construct and can be broken down into four substrands: Empathic Feeling and Expression (EFE) with 15 items; Empathic Perspective Taking (EP) with seven items; Acceptance of Cultural Differences (AC) with five items; and Empathic Awareness (EA) with four items.

Chapter Three: Methodology

Philosophy and Justification

The ability to interact and interrelate with people from other cultures and ethnicities has great value in a world becoming increasingly more global in its orientation (Stebleton et al., 2013). While it has clear educational and economic value, there is also important social value. Research has also indicated that a lack of empathy for others is linked to ethnocentrism (Neulip, 2006), intergroup aggression (Struch & Schwartz, 1989) and social dominance orientation (Pratto et al., 1994). Indeed, pro-social actions and a justice orientation are related to the presence of empathy (Hoffman, 1994, 2008). Opportunities for students to develop empathy for other groups has led to positive outcomes (Albiero & Matricardi, 2013; Dejaeghere et al., 2012; Palmer & Menard-Warwick, 2012)

Research Design Strategy

While the literature suggests a positive correlation between the development of ethnocultural empathy among students who participate in study abroad programs, few of these studies used quantitative data (Ritz, 2011; Tarrant, 2010; Tarrant et al., 2014). The pre- and post-test nature of many studies sensitize students to expected outcomes prior to their experience abroad and could possibly impact the resulting post-test responses. This study proposed analyzing the responses of students who have not been previously exposed to the items on the Scale of Ethnocultural Empathy, which may provide a more candid and unbiased response.

This research was designed as a survey, structured to examine the responses and attitudes of a single group of participants enrolled at university at a point in time (Babbie,

1990). The data were collected as part of an annual large-scale survey sent to all enrolled students at Bethel University, a private, Christian, liberal arts college in the Midwest. The survey was in the form of an online, self-administered questionnaire, which was created using Web-based tools and was administered online. The data for this research were drawn from the 2016 survey, sent to all undergraduate students enrolled at Bethel University in the College of Art and Sciences at that time, and data were gathered anonymously. The advantage of this methodology is that a vast amount of data could be collected at once, very cost effectively, and comparisons can be efficiently drawn using multiple variables. Although participation was voluntary and only a percentage of students participated, the annual sample was large enough to be able to identify attributes of the larger population from a small group of individual participants (Babbie, 1990; Fowler Jr., 2013).

Theoretical Framework

Students who participate in study abroad opportunities are assumed to gain greater intercultural competencies as a result of this experience (Burn, 2003; Hachtmann, 2012; Perry et al., 2012). These kinds of skills are highly desired by employers, and are regarded as increasingly necessary in a diverse global society (Hunter et al., 2006; Tarrant, 2010). Both students and institutions are investing a great deal of time and money into these global experiences, however there is a need for further research into whether or not these programs deliver the outcomes they purport (Anderson & Lawton, 2011; Institute of International Education, 2016; Sutton & Rubin, 2004). Questions remain whether these experiences offer more than just a superficial exposure to other cultures, which might actually result in a more ethnocentric worldview, or instead

develop enhanced empathy for other cultures and diverse points of view (Jackson, 2008; Kambutu & Nganga, 2008; Pedersen, 2010).

The Scale of Ethnocultural Empathy offers a tool that has high internal validity within a short form questionnaire (Wang et al., 2003). Including this subscale within a larger omnibus survey allowed for comparison of empathic responses between students who traveled abroad and those who did not. It also allowed the ability to cross-reference empathy responses with responses about program duration, as well as gender of participants.

This study adds to the body of literature that is being developed around the relationship between empathy and studying abroad.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

This study included the following research questions. Each research questions is listed with its corresponding null hypothesis.

- **RQ1.** What difference, if any, exists in the ethnocultural empathy score of students based on participation in a study abroad program?
- **H10.** There will not be a difference in the ethnocultural empathy score of students who participate in a study abroad program.
- **RQ2.** What difference, if any, exists between the ethnocultural empathy of participating students based on the duration of the abroad study experience (interim vs. semester-length)?
- **H20.** There will not be a difference in the ethnocultural empathy score of those who study abroad based on the duration of their experience.

RQ3. What difference, if any, exists in the ethnocultural empathy of participating students based on gender?

H30. There will be no significant difference in the ethnocultural empathy of participating students based on gender.

RQ4. Controlling for the year in school, what interactions in ethnocultural empathy scores exist between study abroad experiences and gender?

H40. There will be no significant difference in interactions in ethnocultural empathy scores between study abroad experiences and gender.

Variables

The independent variables in this study were the student study abroad experience and the gender of the participant. The dependent variable was the student scores on the Empathic Feeling & Expression subscale of the Ethnocultural Empathy Scale. The covariant, meant to control for maturation, was year in school.

Instrumentation and Protocols

This study used archival data from a "home-grown" Bethel University survey of traditional undergraduate students. There were many items on the survey, but the focus of this study was on the questions related to study abroad experience and student scores on the Empathic Feeling & Expression subscale of the Scale of Ethnocultural Empathy. The university accessed the appropriate permission from the authors to use this scale. However, because the Scale of Ethnocultural Empathy is in the public domain, its use was requested as a formality rather than a necessity.

The omnibus survey was distributed to all enrolled undergraduates in the Bethel University School of Arts and Sciences in May of 2016. The instrument was designed to

cross reference a large number of variables with one another in order to develop a deeper understanding of the student body. Within the larger survey, the Empathic Feeling and Expression subscale of the Scale of Ethnocultural Empathy (Wang et al., 2003) was used to measure student attitudes regarding other cultures.

Wang et al. (2003) developed the Scale of Ethnocultural Empathy as a quantitative instrument to measure awareness, acceptance and attitudes toward people from other cultures or other ethnicities. The Scale of Ethnocultural Empathy (Wang et al., 2003) is a 31-item, 6-point Likert-type scale, ranging from strongly disagree (1) to strongly agree (6). Individuals who score higher on this measure reflect having less empathy for those of different cultures and ethnicities. Wang et al. (2003) broke down ethnocultural empathy into four substrands: Empathic Feeling and Expression (EFE) with 15 items; Empathic Perspective Taking (EP) with seven items; Acceptance of Cultural Differences (AC) with five items; and Empathic Awareness (EA) with four items. The Cronbach alpha coefficient was .80 for the entire scale. The subscale of Empathic Feeling and Expression consists of 15 items, and the Cronbach coefficient was .76

Students were asked "Have you studied outside of the U.S. while at Bethel?

Choose the response that best represents your experience. If you had both a semester and interim study abroad experience, choose 'Yes, during a semester.'" Students had five options to choose from:

- Yes, during a semester
- Yes, during an interim
- No, but I am planning to for a semester
- No, but I am planning to for an interim

• No, I have not and/or will not study outside of the U.S. while at Bethel.

The students who choose "No, but I am planning to for a semester (or interim)" are an important control group in this analysis. For example, if there are significant differences between those who study abroad for a semester and those who have no plans to study abroad, it cannot be automatically assumed that the study abroad experience was the most prominent contributor to the result. The "No, but I plan to study abroad" group acts as an important control for preexisting higher empathy. If there is a significant difference between those who have studied abroad and those who plan to study abroad, then there is good evidence that the study abroad experience increased empathy scores. However, given that students who already study abroad will be older than students who have plans but have not had the experience yet, it is important to control for year of school in the analysis. Doing so helps control for maturation as a variable contributing to a higher score.

Sampling Design

A quasi-experimental non-equivalent control group design was used on survey data. The sample for this study was a non-probability convenience sample drawn from undergraduates enrolled in the College of Arts and Sciences (CAS) at Bethel University, a private, Christian, liberal arts, university in Minnesota in the Fall of 2016. The site of this study is a small, religious, relatively conservative, coeducational, liberal arts university in a Midwestern city. The school heavily promotes study abroad experiences for undergraduates. At the time of the survey, student enrollment in the College of Arts and Sciences was 2,711. Data provided by the Colleges Office of Institutional Data and Research indicates that 60.9% (1,650) of enrolled CAS students were female, and 39.1%

(1,061) were male. Of the total population, 86.1% identified as White, 4.4% Latino, 3.3% Asian, 3.1% African American, .2% Pacific Islander, and 3% multiracial.

Of the 2,711 students surveyed, 778 students completed both the questions related to study abroad programs and the subscale questions on ethnocultural empathy.

Responses from the 778 who completed both items will be included in the analysis of data.

Data Collection Procedures

Data was collected by means of a comprehensive survey to students enrolled in the College of Arts and Sciences (CAS). The Campus Life Survey, as it is known, is used to provide data for a variety of areas at the university. Fundamentally, it is used for institutional assessment. Departments within the university receive results on student satisfaction with instruction, faith integration, advising, and other relevant topics. The Office of Christian Formation & Church Relations receives data related to their area, as does the Student Life Office.

The majority of questions on the survey, including the subscale of Ethnocultural Empathy, were Likert-type items based on a scale from "a very small extent" to "a very great extent." Other questions asked for factual information, such as year in school, gender, and program participation. All information that was used in this analysis were derived from questionnaire data. Within the larger survey, the Empathic Feeling and Expression subscale of the Scale of Ethnocultural Empathy (Wang et al., 2003) was used to measure student attitudes regarding other cultures.

The survey was distributed via university email accounts, and participation was entirely voluntary in nature. The university recorded the email addresses of students who

elected to participate. Those participating students were added to a random drawing for gift cards as an incentive to participate. However, once a student began the survey, no identifying data were collected that would link them to specific responses and all responses were tabulated anonymously.

With the express permission from the Bethel Office of Institutional Assessment, the data were made available for analysis for this research project.

Data Analysis

A 2 X 5 ANCOVA was used to analyze the data. The independent variables are the study abroad experience and the gender of the participants, the dependent variable is the student scores on the Empathic Feeling & Expression subscale of the Ethnocultural Empathy Scale, and the covariate is the year in school.

Limitations of Methodology

This methodology presents several limitations in its design. The first limitation was that the data were collected from a non-probability convenience sample, which makes the results difficult to generalize. Participation in this survey was entirely voluntary. Students self-selected to participate, which means there was a limited cross section of the student body for this time period. Additionally, of those who took the survey, there may have been participants who opted out of that particular battery of questions. Analysis was conducted based only on those students who opted in to the survey, and opted in to answering that subscale of questions.

The design of this study was not a pre/post test model, which is the most typical design for measuring impact of abroad study programs in order to determine growth.

Therefore conclusions can be drawn from the data, but growth following an experience

cannot be measured. The lack of pre/post comparison could obscure the root source of a correlation between participation in study abroad and empathy. In other words, this study does not address why empathy may be elevated for some individuals. It cannot be determined definitively whether or not student empathy was a result of the study abroad experience, or whether those predisposed to participate in such an intercultural experience are naturally inclined toward greater ethnocultural empathy, as suggested by Duan and Hill (1996).

Another limitation of the analyzed data set was that there was no indication of the nature of the programs the students might have participated in, other than duration. If there were such information, it might help assess quality of programming or relationship of the program to subsequent reported levels of empathy. Although duration can be correlated to overall effect of study abroad on cultural competence (Akande & Slawson, 2000; Billigmeier & Forman, 1975; Dwyer, 2004; Dwyer & Peters, 2004), there is evidence to suggest even a short term program can have significant impact, provided the experience is well designed (Bell et al., 2016).

According to Matsumoto (2013), adding a qualitative interview component to contextualize quantitative data can help improve overall analytical understanding.

Because of the anonymous nature of the data collection, there is no way to follow up and seek such qualitative information.

Ethical Considerations

The archival data used in this study required no subject interaction on the part of the researcher. The data were collected as part of a larger survey distributed online, designed by the university to be distributed and collected without researcher contact. Per

Belmont Report guidelines, the university researchers did not collect names or other identifying characteristics of any of the participants and therefore protected the anonymity of all previous participants involved during the data collection stage. The information was also tabulated anonymously. The survey did not use language or words that are biased against persons because of gender, sexual orientation, racial or ethnic group, disability, or age (Publication Manual of the American Psychological Association, 2005).

Chapter Four: Results

Introduction

The purpose of this study was to examine whether there is a relationship between study abroad experience and enhanced ethnocultural empathy among participants. Data for this study were collected in Fall of 2016 using a campus wide, omnibus survey of all undergraduate students enrolled in Bethel University's College of Arts and Sciences. The survey was distributed via email. The data for this study were limited to items regarding study abroad, gender, year in school, and a subscale from the Scale of Ethnocultural Empathy (Wang, et al., 2003). All collected data were quantitative.

The researcher gained access to the data, limited to the items related to the study, through Bethel University's Office of Institutional Assessment. A 2 (gender) X 5 (study abroad experience) ANCOVA was used to analyze the data. The independent variables were gender and study abroad experience. The covariate was year in school (Freshman to Senior), and the dependent variable was the student scores on the Empathic Feeling & Expression subscale of the Ethnocultural Empathy Scale (Wang, et al., 2003).

Sample

The sample for this study was drawn from undergraduates enrolled in the College of Arts and Sciences (CAS) at Bethel University, a private, Christian, liberal arts, university in Minnesota in the Fall of 2016. The site of this study is a small, religious, relatively conservative, coeducational, liberal arts university in a Midwestern city. Two thousand, seven hundred eleven students were sent surveys via campus email accounts. Participation in the survey, or any part of the survey, was strictly voluntary. Data provided by the Colleges Office of Institutional Data and Research indicated that at the

time of the survey the population demographics were as follows: 60.9% (1,650) of enrolled CAS students were female, and 39.1% (1,061) were male. Of the total population, 86.1% identified as White, 4.4% Latino, 3.3% Asian, 3.1% African American, .2% Pacific Islander, and 3% multiracial.

Of the 2,711 students surveyed, 778 students completed all the items pertaining to this study. Only responses from the 778 who completed both items were included in the analysis of data.

Scale Reliability

The Cronbach alpha for the 15 item Empathic Expression & Feeling subscale for the sample in this study was $\alpha = .92$. This indicates that the internal reliability of this subscale for this sample was quite robust and similar to what Wang, et al. (2003) found ($\alpha = .91$) in their original study.

Correlations

Hypothesis one and hypothesis two.

The first hypothesis had to do with whether there was a significant difference between students who had participated in study abroad programs compared to those who planned to participate but had not yet and those who had no plans to participate in study abroad. The null hypothesis (H1o.) was that there would not be a difference in the ethnocultural empathy score compared to those with no study abroad experience. There was a significant main effect for study abroad experience, F(4,763) = 3.88, p = .004, $\eta^2 = .02$. This indicates that at least one of the means was significantly different from one of the other means. LSD post hoc tests revealed that students who have a semester study abroad experience had significantly higher ethnocultural empathy scores compared to the

following: a) those who had an interim abroad experience (p =.001), b) those who planned to study abroad for interim (p = .004), and c) those with no plans to study abroad (p < .001). The mean difference between those who had a semester abroad experience and those who planned to study abroad for a semester approached significance (p=.076) but did not quite meet the .05 alpha level threshold. There was no significant difference between students who had an interim study abroad experience and those who planned to study abroad for an interim (see Table 1 for means and Table 2 for post hoc comparisons).

Given that the two groups with study abroad experiences (semester or interim) did not have significantly higher ethnocultural means compared to their respective control groups (those who plan to study abroad for a semester or those who plan to study abroad for an interim), this first null hypothesis is retained. However, it should be noted that the difference in ethnocultural empathy scores between those who had a semester study abroad experience and its direct control group, those who plan to study abroad but have not yet, was only marginally significant.

The second hypothesis was whether or not duration of study abroad experience would impact ethnocultural empathy. The null hypothesis (H2o.) stated there will not be a difference in the ethnocultural empathy scores of those who study abroad based on the duration of their experience. There were mixed results for this hypothesis. On the one hand, post hoc tests revealed that students with a semester abroad experience had significantly higher ethnocultural empathy scores compared to those who studied abroad for an interim (see Table 1 for means and Table 2 for post hoc comparisons). On the other hand, as mentioned in hypothesis 1, the difference between those with a semester

study abroad experience and those who plan to do a semester abroad experience was only marginally significant. Again, it may just be that those who want a semester abroad experience already have higher ethnocultural empathy compared to those who only want an interim abroad experience. Post hoc tests revealed that students who had a semester long study abroad experience (adjusted M = 4.52, SE = .143) scored significantly higher than the following groups:

- students who only had an interim (3-week) study abroad experience (adjusted M = 3.96, SE = .106, p = .001),
- students who had not yet had a study abroad experience but planned to go for an interim (adjusted M = 4.03, SE = .074, p = .004),
- students who had no plans to study abroad (adjusted M = 3.96, SE = .061, p < .001).

These results indicate that the students who studied abroad for a semester had significantly higher empathic feeling and expression scores compared to those who studied abroad for a three-week interim. The marginally significant difference in empathic feeling & expression between those who had a semester abroad experience and those students who had not yet studied abroad but planned to study for a semester in the future complicates matters a bit (adjusted M = 4.18, SE = .117, p = .076). This means that one must be tentative in concluding that the semester abroad experience increased students' ethnocultural empathy over a three-week interim abroad experience. It may have done that. However, it may also be the case that those students who choose to study abroad for a semester already had higher ethnocultural empathy. There was no significant difference on empathic feeling and expression

between those who had a semester abroad experience and those students who had not yet studied abroad but planned to study for a semester in the future (adjusted M = 4.18, SE = .117, p = .076). This means that we cannot conclude that the study abroad experience increased students' ethnocultural empathy, but can infer those with a predisposition to attend a long-term study abroad program already possess higher levels of ethnocultural empathy than other respondents.

Table 1

Means by Study Abroad Experience, Adjusted for Year in School

Estimates Dependent Variable: Ethnocultural Empathy Scale: Emphathic Feeling & Expression Have you studied outside of 95% Confidence Interval the U.S. while at Bethel? Choose the response that Std. Error Lower Bound best represents yo... Mean Upper Bound 4.516^a Yes, during a semester .143 4.236 4.796 Yes, during an interim 3.964^a .106 3.756 4.173 4.179^a 4.408 No, but I am planning to for a .117 3.950 semester 4.033^a No, but I am planning to for .074 3.888 4.177 an interim No, I have not and/or will not 3.961^a .061 3.842 4.081 study outside of the U.S. while at Bethel.

Table 2

LSD Post Hoc Comparisons of Ethnocultural Empathy by Study Abroad Experience
Pairwise Comparisons

Dependent Variable: Ethnocultural Empathy Scale: Emphathic Feeling & Expression

(I) Have you studied (J) Have you studied Mean Std. Error Sig.^b

a. Covariates appearing in the model are evaluated at the following values: YearinSchool4 = 2.6537.

outside of the U.S. while	outside of the U.S. while	Difference (I-J)		
at Bethel? Choose the	at Bethel? Choose the			
response that best	response that best			
represents yo	represents yo		-	
Yes, during a semester	Yes, during an interim	.552 [*]	.171	.001
	No, but I am planning to for	.337	.190	.076
	a semester			
	No, but I am planning to for an interim	.483*	.165	.004
	No, I have not and/or will	.555 [*]	.154	.000
	not study outside of the			
	U.S. while at Bethel.			
Yes, during an interim	Yes, during a semester	552 [*]	.171	.001
•	No, but I am planning to for a semester	215	.165	.193
	No, but I am planning to for an interim	069	.135	.613
	No, I have not and/or will not study outside of the	.003	.121	.981
	U.S. while at Bethel.			
No, but I am planning to for	Yes, during a semester	337	.190	.076
a semester	Yes, during an interim	.215	.165	.193
	No, but I am planning to for an interim	.146	.132	.270
	No, I have not and/or will	.217	.132	.101
	not study outside of the			
	U.S. while at Bethel.			
No, but I am planning to for	Yes, during a semester	483 [*]	.165	.004
an interim	Yes, during an interim	.069	.135	.613
	No, but I am planning to for a semester	146	.132	.270
	No, I have not and/or will not study outside of the U.S. while at Bethel.	.071	.096	.460
No, I have not and/or will	Yes, during a semester	555 [*]	.154	.000
not study outside of the	Yes, during an interim	003	.121	.981
U.S. while at Bethel.	No, but I am planning to for a semester	217	.132	.101

Hypothesis three.

The third hypothesis investigated whether gender might play a role in ethnocultural empathy. The null hypothesis (H3o.) states that there here will be no significant difference in the ethnocultural empathy of participating students based on gender.

The relationship between empathy and gender revealed there was a significant main effect for gender, F(1,763) = 24.91, p < .001, $\eta^2 = .032$. Female respondents demonstrated significantly higher levels of ethnocultural empathy compared to males.

Table 3

Ethnocultural Empathy Means by Gender, Adjusted for Year in School

Estimates

Dependent Variable: Ethnocultural Empathy Scale: Emphathic Feeling & Expression

95% Confidence Interval

		_	95% Confidence Interval		
Demographics: Gender	Mean	Std. Error	Lower Bound	Upper Bound	
Female	4.355 ^a	.041	4.274	4.436	
Male	3.906 ^a	.080	3.749	4.063	

a. Covariates appearing in the model are evaluated at the following values: YearinSchool4 = 2.6537.

Hypothesis four.

The null hypothesis (H4o.) states that, controlling for year in school, there will be no significant difference in interactions in ethnocultural empathy scores between study abroad experiences and gender. The covariate (year in school) was not statistically

significant, F(1,763) = 1.81, p = .178, $\eta^2 = .002$. That is, there was no significant difference between first-year, sophomore, juniors, and seniors on the empathic feeling & expression subscale.

Additionally, there was no significant interaction between gender and study abroad experience, F(4,763) = 1.33, p = .256, $\eta^2 = .007$. The effect of study abroad experience did not depend on the gender of the student. Looking at the means in Table 4 men who studied abroad for a semester did have much higher ethnocultural empathy scores compared to men in the other study abroad categories. However, the sample size of men who studied abroad for a semester was too small to impact the interaction between the two variables. Therefore the null hypothesis cannot be rejected.

Table 4

Ethnocultural Empathy Means by Gender and Study Abroad Experience, Adjusted for Year in School

Dependent Variable: Ethnocultural Empathy Scale: Emphathic Feeling & Expression					
	Have you studied outside of	_			
	the U.S. while at Bethel?				
	Choose the response that				
Demographics: Gender	best represents yo	Mean	Std. Error		
Female	Yes, during a semester	4.558 ^a	.119		
	Yes, during an interim	4.336 ^a	.099		
	No, but I am planning to for a	4.507 ^a	.109		
	semester				
	No, but I am planning to for	4.208 ^a	.078		
	an interim				
	No, I have not and/or will not	4.167 ^a	.067		
	study outside of the U.S.				
	while at Bethel.				
Male	Yes, during a semester	4.474 ^a	.255		

Yes, during an interim	3.592 ^a	.182
No, but I am planning to for a semester	3.851 ^a	.201
No, but I am planning to for an interim	3.858 ^a	.120
No, I have not and/or will not study outside of the U.S.	3.756 ^a	.101
while at Bethel.		

Table 5

2 (Gender) X 5 (Study Abroad Experience) ANCOVA Table with Year in School as
Covariate

Tests of Between-Subjects Effects

Dependent Variable: Ethnocultural Empathy Scale: Emphathic Feeling & Expression

	Type III Sum of	-	_	_	
Source	Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
Corrected Model	57.260 ^a	10	5.726	6.889	.000
YearinSchool	1.508	1	1.508	1.814	.178
Gender	20.708	1	20.708	24.914	.000
StudyAbroad	12.890	4	3.222	3.877	.004
Gender * StudyAbroad5	4.434	4	1.109	1.334	.256
Error	634.202	763	.831		
Corrected Total	691.462	773			

Chapter 5: Overview of Study

Overview of the Study

The purpose of this study was to determine if a relationship existed between the development of student ethnocultural empathy and participation in a study abroad program. A 2 (gender) X 5 (study abroad experience) ANCOVA was used to analyze the data. The independent variables were gender and study abroad experience. The covariate was year in school (Freshman to Senior), and the dependent variable was the student scores on the Empathic Feeling & Expression subscale of the Ethnocultural Empathy Scale (Wang, et al., 2003). The data were collected as part of a larger, omnibus student survey in the Fall of 2016. Four hypotheses and their alternatives were proposed. Chapter Five reviews this study and addresses future implications.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

Four main questions were addressed within this study. Each research questions is listed with its corresponding null hypothesis.

- **RQ1.** What difference, if any, exists in the ethnocultural empathy score of students based on participation in a study abroad program?
- **H10.** There will not be a difference in the ethnocultural empathy score of students who participate in a study abroad program.
- **RQ2.** What difference, if any, exists between the ethnocultural empathy of participating students based on the duration of the abroad study experience (interim vs. semester-length)?
- **H20.** There will not be a difference in the ethnocultural empathy score of those who study abroad based on the duration of their experience.

- **RQ3.** What difference, if any, exists in the ethnocultural empathy of participating students based on gender?
- **H30.** There will be no significant difference in the ethnocultural empathy of participating students based on gender.
- **RQ4.** Controlling for the year in school, what interactions in ethnocultural empathy scores exist between study abroad experiences and gender?
- **H40.** There will be no significant difference in interactions in ethnocultural empathy scores between study abroad experiences and gender.

Conclusions

There were four hypotheses proposed in this study. Using a strict alpha of .05 would mean that hypothesis one would not be rejected. However, the probability value (p = .076) was close to the .05 threshold. For hypothesis 2, there was a significant difference between students who studied abroad for a semester and students who studied abroad for only an interim. So technically with that result we would reject the null hypothesis for number 2. However, that result is tempered by the fact that there was only a marginally significant difference between those who studied abroad for a semester and those who planned to study abroad for a semester. Did the semester study abroad experience create the higher ethnocultural empathy score or were students already high on ethnocultural empathy before the study abroad experience? The results for hypotheses 3 and 4 are more straightforward. Null hypothesis 3 was rejected; women did score significantly higher than men on ethnocutlural empathy. Finally, we retained the null hypothesis for number 4. There was no interaction between gender and study abroad experience.

The first research question was a broad based, general question, examining whether any difference existed in ethnocultural empathy scores for those who participated in a study abroad program. The second research question was essentially the same, but looked specifically at whether a difference in ethnocultural empathy scores, if any, was related to program length. In both instances there was no significant difference found. However, the difference between those students who had a study abroad experience for a semester and those who planned to study abroad for a semester did approach significance. Potentially with a little larger sample size a significant difference between the groups would have likely been found.

Students who had a semester long study abroad experience did have the highest adjusted mean ethnocultural empathy scores (M = 4.52). The next highest adjusted mean score was for the students who planned to study abroad for a semester (M = 4.18). It is likely the students who want to study abroad for a semester do already have high ethnocultural empathy. However, it may also be that the semester study abroad experience does help to increase ethnocultural empathy. The evidence from this data set is not quite strong enough to make that conclusion, though.

Research question three examined whether a difference existed in empathy of participating students based on gender. Question four examined whether there was an interaction between study abroad experience and gender of the student. In both cases, female respondents indicated significantly higher empathy levels than their male counterparts. However, the interaction between gender and type of study abroad experience was not significant. That is, the type of study abroad experience (or no experience) did not systematically vary with the gender of the student.

Analysis of the data in this study showed that students who had a semester abroad experience had the highest ethnocultural empathy mean. The difference between the mean of students who had a semester study abroad experience and students who planned to study abroad for a semester approached significance (p = .076). However, the difference was not quite large enough to reach statistical significance at the .05 level. Given previous research on the connection between empathy and study abroad (Engle & Engle, 2003; Eklund, Andersson-Straberg & Hansen, 2009; Green, 2995; Rasoal, et al., 2011a; Stebleton, et al., 2013; Strange & Gibson, 2017), a more significant relationship was expected.

There may be several reasons why the evidence did not quite reach traditional statistical significance. This study was a review of archival data collected in the Fall of 2016. Student participation was voluntary and no identifying information was collected. The data were a reflection of a single collection event. A pre-test/post-test method may have found a significant difference for the study abroad experience.

Additionally, there were no data gathered indicating which specific study abroad programs students had participated in. As a result, this study was also unable to review the specific course design of the various abroad study programs. Research has indicated that programs designed with elements of experiential or transformative learning would likely result in greater empathy (Lutterman-Aguilar & Gingerich, 2002; Mezirow, 1990, 1997; Perry, et al., 2012), and has even been shown to yield significant results in a short-term programs (Bell, Gibson, Tarrant, Perry, & Stoner, 2016; Borden, 2007; Capell, et al., 2008; Dwyer, 2004; Dwyer & Peters, 2004; Hachtmann, 2012; Palmer & Menard-Warwick, 2012; Tarrant, 2010). It is likely that some students who participated in

semester study abroad programs had some elements of experiential or transformative learning in their program whereas others did not. The heterogeneity of the program experiences likely increased the variability of ethnocultural empathy scores within this group.

This study reviewed quantitative archival data only. Because of the lack of research studies dealing only with quantitative data in this subject area, it was believed it would add to the body of research in this field. However, in previous studies that combined both a quantitative and qualitative approach, greater relationship was found (Borden, 2007; Hachtmann, 2012).

In this study there was a significant relationship between ethnocultural empathy and those who planned to, or who did, participate in semester long study abroad programs. However, since the elevated empathy levels were also found among those planning to spend a longer time abroad, not just those who had, this might be an indication of pre-existing levels of empathy rather than a result of a study abroad experience. While the findings in this study indicate students who selected a semester long option might have a predisposition toward ethnocultural empathy, research does support the idea that longer duration experiences can lead to higher levels of cross cultural empathy in participants as a result of actual time spent abroad (Akande & Slawson, 2000; Billigmeier & Foreman, 1975; Dwyer, 2004; Dwyer & Peters, 2004; Engle & Engle, 2003). Because the data for this study were a single data point, and not a pre-test/post-test model, it cannot be determined whether those who actually spent time abroad demonstrated an even higher level of empathy than their pre-test might have indicated.

Implications and Recommendations

There continue to be a lack of quantitative studies exploring the relationship between study abroad participation and ethnocultural empathy. Most current literature focuses on qualitative data and open-ended surveys. Industries and universities alike advocate for the development of interpersonal and intercultural relational skills, and study abroad programs seem a likely method for achieving that end. However, there is a still a gap in the literature that definitively demonstrates how these programs can reliably and consistently deliver such results. Institutions and individuals alike continue to dedicate significant resources toward these programs with the hope of developing increasingly important skills. The need for further research is evident.

One area that university researchers could explore would be whether their current institutional study abroad programs have been designed with either Experiential or Transformational Learning experiences in mind, and whether such experiences resulted in increased student empathy measures. These programs should include authentic cultural interactions, with an opportunity for relationship building, and ample opportunity for reflection and processing. Identifying which institutional programs offer the most powerful effects, and then analyzing what powerful course design looks like in practical terms, could help elevate the entirety of their study abroad offerings.

In future studies, a pre/post test research design is recommended. Such design could provide helpful comparative information and might determine a causal relationship. Establishing a baseline ethnocultural empathy level for students at the outset would allow measurement of the impact of abroad study. Of course, the drawback of pre/post designs is that it sensitizes the student to the measures in the study.

Future studies should also be designed to include both quantitative and qualitative measures. While this study intentionally used a quantitative instrument alone to measure empathy levels in order to add to the body of research, previous studies using a combination of quantitative and qualitative instruments have yielded significant findings (Borden, 2007; Hachtmann, 2012). Gathering of such qualitative data could be simplified if reflective questions were included as part of the instructional design of study abroad programs. In both an experiential and transformational learning model, these type of questions used for processing opportunities could be embedded within a course and gathered in real time.

Concluding Comments

As we see greater representation of diversity in our societies and cultural differences come more into focus, the demand for higher levels of cultural competence and ethnocultural empathy become increasingly necessary. There is not only a clear need, there is also a deep interest on the part of students and educators alike to have opportunities to develop these skills within a higher education setting. Developing top caliber programs, designed to encourage empathy building and authentic relationships within a course of study, is in the best interest of all involved. When universities can offer clear evidence of program effectiveness, ensuring this important intercultural facet is being addressed and developed, the investment of time and money into these experiences will truly be justified.

References

- Agroskin, D. (2010). Out of control: How and why does perceived lack of control lead to ethnocentrism? *Review of Psychology*, 17(2), 79-90.
- Akande, Y., & Slawson, C. (2000). Exploring the long-term impact of study abroad: A case study of 50 years of study abroad alumni. *International Educator*, *9*(3), 12-17.
- Albiero, P., & Matricardi, G. (2013). Empathy towards people of different race and ethnicity: Further empirical evidence for the scale of ethnocultural empathy. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, 37(5), 648-655.
- Alligood, M. R. (2007). Rethinking empathy in nursing education. *Middle Range Theory Development using King's Conceptual System*, 287.
- Allport, G. W., Clark, K., & Pettigrew, T. (1954). *The nature of prejudice*. Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley.
- Altbach, P. (2015). Perspectives on internationalizing higher education. *International Higher Education*, (27)
- Anderson, P. H., & Lawton, L. (2011). Intercultural development: Study abroad vs. on-campus study. *Frontiers: The Interdisciplinary Journal of Study Abroad*, 21, 86-108.
- Babbie, E. R. (1990). Survey research methods Wadsworth pub. Co Belmont, CA, 3(9).

- Ballestas, H. C., & Roller, M. C. (2013). The effectiveness of a study abroad program for increasing students' cultural competence. *Journal of Nursing Education and Practice*, *3*(6), 125.
- Barbuto Jr, J. E., Beenen, G., & Tran, H. (2015). The role of core self-evaluation, ethnocentrism, and cultural intelligence in study abroad success. *The International Journal of Management Education*, *13*(3), 268-277.
- Batey, J. J., & Lupi, M. H. (2012). Reflections on student interns' cultural awareness developed through a short-term international internship. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, 39(3), 25-44.
- Batson, C. D., Polycarpou, M. P., Harmon-Jones, E., Imhoff, H. J., Mitchener, E. C., Bednar, L. L., ... & Highberger, L. (1997). Empathy and attitudes: Can feeling for a member of a stigmatized group improve feelings toward the group?. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 72(1), 105.
- Bell, H. L., Gibson, H. J., Tarrant, M. A., Perry III, L. G., & Stoner, L. (2016).
 Transformational learning through study abroad: US students' reflections on learning about sustainability in the south pacific. *Leisure Studies*, 35(4), 389-405.
- Bennett, M., & Paige, R. M. (1993). Education for the intercultural experience.

 Towards Ethnorelativism: A Developmental Model of Intercultural Sensitivity, 21-71.

- Berwick, R. F., & Whalley, T. R. (2000). The experiential bases of culture learning: A case study of Canadian high schoolers in Japan. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, 24(3), 325-340.
- Billigmeier, R. H., & Forman, D. (1975). Göttingen in retrospect. *International Review of Education*, 21(2), 217-230.
- Borden, A. W. (2007). The impact of service-learning on ethnocentrism in an intercultural communication course. *Journal of Experiential Education*, 30(2), 171-183.
- Bretag, T., & van der Veen, R. (2017). 'Pushing the boundaries': Participant motivation and self-reported benefits of short-term international study tours. *Innovations in Education and Teaching International*, *54*(3), 175-183.
- Bretag, T., & Van, D. (2017). "Pushing the boundaries": Participant motivation and self-reported benefits of short-term international study tours. *Innovations in Education and Teaching International*, *54*(3), 175-183.
- Brouwer, M. A., & Boros, S. (2010). The influence of intergroup contact and ethnocultural empathy on employees' attitudes toward diversity. *Cognition, Brain, Behavior: An Interdisciplinary Journal*, *14*(3), 243-260.
- Burn, B. (Ed.). (2003). *Study abroad* (2nd ed.). New York, NY: Macmillan Reference, USA.

- Byrne, D. (1997). An overview (and underview) of research and theory within the attraction paradigm. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, *14*(3), 417-431.
- Byrne, D. E. (1971). *The attraction paradigm* (Vol. 11). New York, NY: Academic Press.
- Byrne, D., Clore, G. L., & Smeaton, G. (1986). The attraction hypothesis: Do similar attitudes affect anything?, *Journal of Personality and Psychology*, *51*(6), 1167-1170.
- Capell, J., Dean, E., & Veenstra, G. (2008). The relationship between cultural competence and ethnocentrism of health care professionals. *Journal of Transcultural Nursing*, 19(2), 121-125.
- Chieffo, L., & Griffiths, L. (2004). Large-scale assessment of student attitudes after a short-term study abroad program. *Frontiers: The Interdisciplinary Journal of Study Abroad*, 10, 165-177.
- Choi-Kain, L. W., & Gunderson, J. G. (2008). Mentalization: Ontogeny, assessment, and application in the treatment of borderline personality disorder. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 165(9), 1127-1135.
- Clarke, I., Flaherty, T. B., Wright, N. D., & McMillen, R. M. (2009). Student intercultural proficiency from study abroad programs. *Journal of Marketing Education*, *31*(2), 173-181.

- Cundiff, N. L., Nadler, J. T., & Swan, A. (2009). The influence of cultural empathy and gender on perceptions of diversity programs. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, *16*(1), 97-110.
- Davis, M. H. (1994). *Empathy: A social psychological approach*. Madison, WI: Brown and Benchmark Publishers.
- Davis, M. H. (1980). A multidimensional approach to individual differences in empathy. *Catalogue of Selected Documents in Psychology*, 10, 85.
- Davis, M. H. (1983). Measuring individual differences in empathy: Evidence for a multidimensional approach. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 44*(1), 113-126.
- Dejaeghere, Y., Hooghe, M., & Claes, E. (2012). Do ethnically diverse schools reduce ethnocentrism? A two-year panel study among majority group late adolescents in Belgian schools. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, *36*(1), 108-117.
- DiLalla, L. F., Hull, S. K., & Dorsey, J. K. (2004). Effect of gender, age, and relevant course work on attitudes toward empathy, patient spirituality, and physician wellness. *Teaching and Learning in Medicine*, 16(2), 165-170.
- Dirkx, J. M. (2006). Engaging emotions in adult learning: A Jungian perspective on emotion and transformative learning. *New Directions for Adult and Continuing Education*, 2006(109), 15-26.

- Dirkx, J. M., Mezirow, J., & Cranton, P. (2006). Musings and reflections on the meaning, context, and process of transformative learning: A dialogue between John
 M. Dirkx and Jack Mezirow. *Journal of Transformative Education*, 4(2), 123-139.
- Duan, C., & Hill, C. E. (1996). The current state of empathy research. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 43(3), 261.
- Dvash, J., & Shamay-Tsoory, S. (2014). Theory of mind and empathy as multidimensional constructs: Neurological foundations. *Topics in Language Disorders*, *34*(4), 282-295.
- Dwyer, M. M. (2004). More is better: The impact of study abroad program duration. Frontiers: The Interdisciplinary Journal of Study Abroad, 10, 151-163.
- Dwyer, M. M., & Peters, C. K. (2004). The benefits of study abroad. *Transitions Abroad*, 37(5), 56-58.
- Dyche, L., & Zayas, L. H. (2001). Cross-cultural empathy and training the contemporary psychotherapist. *Clinical Social Work Journal*, 29(3), 245-258.
- Eisenberg, N., & Lennon, R. (1983). Sex differences in empathy and related capacities. *Psychological Bulletin*, 94(1), 100.
- Eisenberg, N., & Strayer, J. (1987). *Critical issues in the study of empathy*. New York: Cambridge University Press.

- Eklund, J., Andersson-Straberg, T., & Hansen, E. M. (2009). "I've also experienced loss and fear": Effects of prior similar experience on empathy. *Scandinavian Journal of Psychology*, *50*(1), 65-69.
- Endresen, I. M., & Olweus, D. (2001). Self-reported empathy in Norwegian adolescents: Sex differences, age trends, and relationship to bullying. In A.C. Bohart & D.J. Stipek (Eds.), *Constructive & destructive behavior: Implications for family, school, & society* (pp. 147 165). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Engle, L., & Engle, J. (2003). Study abroad levels: Toward a classification of program types. *Frontiers: The Interdisciplinary Journal of Study Abroad*, *9*(1), 1-20.
- Engle, L., & Engle, J. (2004). Assessing language acquisition and intercultural sensitivity development in relation to study abroad program design. *Frontiers: The Interdisciplinary Journal of Study Abroad*, 10(1), 219-236.
- Fonagy, P., (2018). *Affect regulation, mentalization and the development of the self.*New York, NY: Routledge.
- Fonagy, P., Steele, M., Steele, H., Moran, G. S., & Higgitt, A. C. (1991). The capacity for understanding mental states: The reflective self in parent and child and its significance for security of attachment. *Infant Mental Health Journal*, *12*(3), 201-218.
- Fowler Jr, F. J. (2013). Survey research methods. London, UK: Sage Publications.

- Gaertner, S. L., Dovidio, J. F., & Bachman, B. A. (1996). Revisiting the contact hypothesis: The induction of a common ingroup identity. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, 20(3-4), 271-290.
- Gallese, V., & Goldman, A. (1998). Mirror neurons and the simulation theory of mind-reading. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, *2*(12), 493-501.
- Goldman, A. I. (2006). Simulating minds: The philosophy, psychology, and neuroscience of mindreading. London, UK: Oxford University Press.
- Gopnik, A., & Wellman, H. M. (1994). (1994). The theory theory. Paper presented at the An Earlier Version of this Chapter was Presented at the Society for Research in Child Development Meeting, 1991.
- Gordon, R. M. (1986). Folk psychology as simulation. *Mind & Language*, 1(2), 158-171.
- Green, J. W. (1995). Cultural awareness in the human services: A multi-ethnic approach. New York, NY: Prentice Hall.
- Hachtmann, F. (2012). The effect of advertising-focused, short-term study abroad programs on students' worldviews. *Journal of Advertising Education*, 16(1), 19.
- Hansen, R. A. (2010). Impact of study abroad on ethnocultural empathy and global-mindedness (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from http://cardinalscholar.bsu.edu/bitstream/handle/123456789/194615/HansenR_2010-1_BODY.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y

- Hensley, T. R., & Sell, D. K. (1979). A study-abroad program: An examination of impacts on student attitudes. *Teaching Political Science*, *6*(4), 387-411.
- Hoffman, M. L. (1994). The contribution of empathy to justice and moral judgment.

 Reaching Out: Caring, Altruism, and Prosocial Behavior, 7, 161-194.
- Hoffman, M. L. (2008). Empathy and prosocial behavior. *Handbook of Emotions*, *3*, 440-455.
- Hogan, R. (1969). Development of an empathy scale. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 33(3), 307.
- Hunter, B., White, G. P., & Godbey, G. C. (2006). What does it mean to be globally competent? *Journal of Studies in International Education*, 10(3), 267-285.
- Ingraham, E. C., & Peterson, D. L. (2004). Assessing the impact of study abroad on student learning at Michigan State University. *Frontiers: The Interdisciplinary Journal of Study Abroad*, *10*, 83-100.
- Ivey, A. E., Ivey, M. B., & Simek-Downing, L. (1987). Counseling and Psychotherapy: Integrating Skills, Theory, and Practice, Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Jackson, J. (2008). Language. *Identity and Study Abroad*. London, UK: Equinox.
- Junn, E. N., Morton, K. R., & Yee, I. (1995). The gibberish exercise: Facilitating empathetic multicultural awareness. *Journal of Instructional Psychology*, 22(4), 324.

- Kambutu, J., & Nganga, L. W. (2008). In these uncertain times: Educators build cultural awareness through planned international experiences. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 24(4), 939-951.
- Kolb, D. (1984). *Experiential learning as the science of learning and development*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Litvack-Miller, W., McDougall, D., & Romney, D. M. (1997). The structure of empathy during middle childhood and its relationship to prosocial behavior. *Genetic, Social, and General Psychology Monographs*, 123(3), 303-325.
- Ludlum, M., Ice, R., & Sheetz-Nguyen, J. (2013). Justifying study abroad in financially difficult times. *Administrative Issues Journal: Education, Practice, and Research*, 3(2), 1-6.
- Luo, J., & Jamieson-Drake, D. (2015). Predictors of study abroad intent, participation, and college outcomes. *Research in Higher Education*, *56*(1), 29-56.
- Lutterman-Aguilar, A., & Gingerich, O. (2002). Experiential pedagogy for study abroad: Educating for global citizenship. *Frontiers: The Interdisciplinary Journal of Study Abroad*, 8(2), 41-82.
- Mapp, S. C. (2012). Effect of short-term study abroad programs on students' cultural adaptability. *Journal of Social Work Education*, 48(4), 727-737.
- Matsumoto, D., & Hwang, H. C. (2013). Assessing cross-cultural competence: A review of available tests. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 44(6), 849-873.

- McCroskey, J. C. (2015). *An introduction to rhetorical communication*. New York, NY: Routledge.
- McDowell, T., Goessling, K., & Melendez, T. (2012). Transformative learning through international immersion: Building multicultural competence in family therapy and counseling. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 38(2), 365-379.
- McLeod, M., & Wainwright, P. (2009). Researching the study abroad experience. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, 13(1), 66-71.
- Medina-Lopez-Portillo, A. (2004). Intercultural learning assessment: The link between program duration and the development of intercultural sensitivity. *Frontiers: The Interdisciplinary Journal of Study Abroad, 10*, 179-199.
- Mehrabian, A., & Epstein, N. (1972). A measure of emotional empathy. *Journal of Personality*, 40(4), 525-543.
- Mezirow, J. (1990). How critical reflection triggers transformative learning. *Fostering Critical Reflection in Adulthood*, 1, 20.
- Mezirow, J. (1991). *Transformative dimensions of adult learning*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Mezirow, J. (1997). Transformative learning: Theory to practice. *New Directions for Adult and Continuing Education*, 1997(74), 5-12.

- Mlekov, K., & Widell, G. (2003). *How do we encounter diversity in workplace*. Lund: Studentlitteratur.
- Neuliep, J. W. (2002). Assessing the reliability and validity of the generalized ethnocentrism scale. *Journal of Intercultural Communication Research*, 31(4), 201-215.
- Neuliep, J. W., Hintz, S. M., & McCroskey, J. C. (2005). The influence of ethnocentrism in organizational contexts: Perceptions of interviewee and managerial attractiveness, credibility, and effectiveness. *Communication Quarterly*, 53(1), 41-56.
- Neuliep, J. W., & McCroskey, J. C. (1997). The development of a US and generalized ethnocentrism scale. *Communication Research Reports*, *14*(4), 385-398.
- Neulip, J. W. (2006). *Intercultural communication: A contextual approach*. 3rd Edition. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Open doors: Report on international educational exchange. Retrieved from http://www.iie.org/en/Research-and-Publications/Open-Doors/Data/Fast-Facts
- Palmer, D. K., & Menard-Warwick, J. (2012). Short-term study abroad for Texas preservice teachers: On the road from empathy to critical awareness. *Multicultural Education*, 19(3), 17.
- Parson, E. R. (1993). Ethnotherapeutic empathy (EthE)—part I: Definition, theory, and process. *Journal of Contemporary Psychotherapy*, 23(1), 5-18.

- Pedersen, P. B. (1991). Multiculturalism as a generic approach to counseling. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 70(1), 6-12.
- Pedersen, P. J. (2010). Assessing intercultural effectiveness outcomes in a year-long study abroad program. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, *34*(1), 70-80.
- Perry, L., Stoner, L., & Tarrant, M. (2012). More than a vacation: Short-term study abroad as a critically reflective, transformative learning experience. *Creative Education*, *3*(05), 679.
- Pettigrew, T. F. (1998). Intergroup contact theory. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 49(1), 65-85.
- Plant, E. A., & Devine, P. G. (2003). The antecedents and implications of interracial anxiety. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 29(6), 790-801.
- Pratto, F., Sidanius, J., Stallworth, L. M., & Malle, B. F. (1994). Social dominance orientation: A personality variable predicting social and political attitudes. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 67(4), 741.
- Premack, D., & Woodruff, G. (1978). Does the chimpanzee have a theory of mind? *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, *I*(04), 515-526.
- Rasoal, C., Eklund, J., & Hansen, E. M. (2011). Toward a conceptualization of ethnocultural empathy. *Journal of Social, Evolutionary, and Cultural Psychology, 5*(1), 1-13.

- Rasoal, C., Jungert, T., Hau, S., & Andersson, G. (2011a). Development of a Swedish version of the scale of ethnocultural empathy. *Psychology*, *2*(6), 568-573.
- Rasoal, C., Jungert, T., Hau, S., & Andersson, G. (2011b). Ethnocultural versus basic empathy: Same or different? *Psychology*, *2*(9), 925-930.
- Ridley, C. R., & Lingle, D. W. (1996). *Cultural empathy in multicultural counseling:*A multidimensional process model. London, UK: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Ritz, A. A. (2011). The educational value of short-term study abroad programs as course components. *Journal of Teaching in Travel & Tourism*, 11(2), 164-178.
- Salisbury, M. H., An, B. P., & Pascarella, E. T. (2013). The effect of study abroad on intercultural competence among undergraduate college students. *Journal of Student Affairs Research and Practice*, *50*(1), 1-20.
- Schieman, S., & Van Gundy, K. (2000). The personal and social links between age and self-reported empathy. *Social Psychology Quarterly*, 63(2),152-174.
- Scott, N. E., & Borodovsky, L. G. (1990). Effective use of cultural role taking. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, 21(3), 167.
- Sell, D. K. (1983). Research on attitude change in US students who participate in foreign study experiences: Past findings and suggestions for future research. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, 7(2), 131-147.

- Spanierman, L. B., Beard, J. C., & Todd, N. R. (2012). White men's fears, white women's tears: Examining gender differences in racial affect types. *Sex Roles*, 67(3-4), 174-186.
- Spencer, J. (2004). Decline in empathy in medical education: How can we stop the rot? *Medical Education*, *38*(9), 916-918.
- Spencer-Rodgers, J., & McGovern, T. (2002). Attitudes toward the culturally different: The role of intercultural communication barriers, affective responses, consensual stereotypes, and perceived threat. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, 26(6), 609-631.
- Stebleton, M. J., Soria, K. M., & Cherney, B. T. (2013). The high impact of education abroad: College students' engagement in international experiences and the development of intercultural competencies. *Frontiers: The Interdisciplinary Journal of Study Abroad*, 22, 1-24.
- Strange, H., & Gibson, H. J. (2017). An investigation of experiential and transformative learning in study abroad programs. *Frontiers: The Interdisciplinary Journal of Study Abroad*, 29(1), 85-100.
- Struch, N., & Schwartz, S. H. (1989). Intergroup aggression: Its predictors and distinctness from in-group bias. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 56(3), 364.

- Sutton, R. C., & Rubin, D. L. (2004). The GLOSSARI project: Initial findings from a system-wide research initiative on study abroad learning outcomes. *Frontiers: The Interdisciplinary Journal of Study Abroad, 10*, 65-82.
- Swan, P., & Riley, P. (2015). Social connection: Empathy and mentalization for teachers. *Pastoral Care in Education*, *33*(4), 220-233.
- Swan, P., Riley, P., & Australian Association for Research, in Education. (2012).

 "Mentalization": A tool to measure teacher empathy in primary school teachers.

 Deakin, Australia: Australian Association for Research in Education.
- Tajfel, H., & Turner, J. (1986). *The social identity theory of intergroup behaviour*. Chicago, IL: Nelson Hall.
- Tarrant, M. A., Rubin, D. L., & Stoner, L. (2014). The added value of study abroad: Fostering a global citizenry. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, 18(2), 141-161.
- Tarrant, M. A. (2010). A conceptual framework for exploring the role of studies abroad in nurturing global citizenship. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, *14*(5), 433-451.
- Tettegah, S., & Anderson, C. J. (2007). Pre-service teachers' empathy and cognitions: Statistical analysis of text data by graphical models. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, *32*(1), 48-82.

- Van Der Zee, Karen I, & Van Oudenhoven, J. P. (2000). The multicultural personality questionnaire: A multidimensional instrument of multicultural effectiveness. *European Journal of Personality, 14*(4), 291-309.
- Vescio, T. K., Sechrist, G. B., & Paolucci, M. P. (2003). Perspective taking and prejudice reduction: The mediational role of empathy arousal and situational attributions. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, *33*(4), 455-472.
- Walters, C., Charles, J., & Bingham, S. (2017). Impact of short-term study abroad experiences on transformative learning. *Journal of Transformative Education*, *15*(2), 103-121.
- Wang, Y., Davidson, M. M., Yakushko, O. F., Savoy, H. B., Tan, J. A., & Bleier, J. K. (2003). The scale of ethnocultural empathy: Development, validation, and reliability. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 50(2), 221.
- Weinberg, H. (2003). The culture of the group and groups from different cultures. *Group Analysis*, *36*(2), 253-268.
- Williams, T. R. (2005). Exploring the impact of study abroad on students' intercultural communication skills: Adaptability and sensitivity. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, *9*(4), 356-371.
- Wood, R. J. (1991). Toward cultural empathy: A framework for global education. *Educational Record*, 72(4), 10-13.

Yamamoto, J., Silva, J. A., Justice, L. R., Chang, C., & Leong, G. (1993). Cross-cultural psychotherapy. *Culture, Ethnicity and Mental Illness*, 101-124.

Appendices

Appendix A

IRB Approval Letter



December 22, 2018

Dear IRB Committee-

This letter serves as permission for Julia Winn, Ed.D. student in Bethel University's graduate program, to have access to specific data from the 2016 CAS Campus Life Survey for her dissertation. The data file which Ms. Winn will access to includes no identifying

Joel D. Frederickson, Ph.D. Professor, Department of Psychology

College of Arts & Sciences

Associate Dean of Institutional Assessment and Accreditation

College of Arts & Sciences College of Adult & Professional Studies Graduate School

3900 Bethel Drive St. Paul, Minnesota 55112-6999 651.638.6317 fax: 651.638.6001 frejoe@bethel.edu

www.bethel.edu

information in it. That is, **NO CAS student can be identified in the data file (no ID numbers, names, email addresses, etc)**. Additionally, the file that Ms. Winn will have access to will only have the following variables in it from the survey:

- 1) Student self-reported gender;
- 2) Student self-reported year in school;
- 3) Student self-reported study abroad experience and/or plans; and
- 4) Responses to the Empathic Feeling & Expression scale items and the total scale score from these items.

All other survey items will be eliminated from this file.

My supervisor, Provost Dr. Deb Harless, has agreed to this arrangement.

Please feel to contact me with any questions about this agreement.

Sincerely,

Joel D. Frederickson, Ph.D.

Associate Dean of Institutional Assessment & Accreditation

Professor, Department of Psychology

Appendix B

Campus Life Survey 2016

Campus Life Survey 2016

Start of Block: Core Values & Spiritual Life

Bethel University - Campus Life Survey

Please respond to the set of items in this Campus Life Survey. There are items pertaining to Core Values, Student Life, Campus Ministries & Spiritual Life, Political & Social Attitudes, and Academics. Administrators, faculty, and staff take your responses to these items seriously and have made changes in the past based on student responses. In pre-testing this survey, we found it took students between 10-20 minutes to complete. Your responses to this survey are **ANONYMOUS**. At the end of the survey there will be a link to a separate survey where you can enter your name for a drawing for one of twenty \$20 Target Gift Cards. This will ensure that you name or email address will be NOT be connected to your responses to the survey items. Thank you! Do you wish to participate in this survey? O yes (1) O no (2) Skip To: End of Survey If Bethel University - Campus Life Survey Please respond to the set of items in this Campus Life Sur... = no

Items about Academics at Bethel

Have you studied outside of the U.S. while at Bethel? Choose the response that best represents your experience. If you have studied overseas for both a semester and an interim, choose the answer "Yes, during a semester".						
O Yes, during a semester (1)						
O Yes, during an interim (2)						
O No, but I am planning to for a semester (3)						
O No, but I am planning to for an interim (4)						
O No, I have not and/or will not study outside of the U.S. while at Bethel. (5)						
Display This Question:						
If Have you studied outside of the U.S. while at Bethel? Choose the response that best represents yo = Yes, during a semester						
Or Have you studied outside of the U.S. while at Bethel? Choose the response that best represents yo… = Yes, during an interim						
What is your current class standing at Bethel?						
O Freshman (1)						
O Sophomore (2)						
O Junior (3)						
O Senior, not graduating in May 2016 (4)						
O Graduating Senior (5)						

Demographic	es:					
Gender						
O Female	(1)					
O Male (2	2)					
Please rate the		ich each of	the followi	ng items de	scribe you	ı. Please be
nonest and car	1=Strongly disagree that it describes me (1)	2 (2)	3 (3)	4 (4)	5 (5)	6=Strongly agree that it describes me (6)
When I hear people make racist jokes, I tell them I am offended even though they are not referring to my racial or ethnic group. (12)	0		0	0	0	0
When other people struggle with racial or ethnic oppression, I share their frustration (6)	0	0	0	0	0	0
I feel supportive of people of other racial						

and ethnic groups, if I think they are being taken advantage of.

(7)

anger of people who are victims of hate crimes (e.g., intentional violence because of race or ethnicity). (9)	0	0	0	0	0	0
I am touched by movies or books about discrimination issues faced by racial or ethnic groups other than my own. (10)	0	0			0	0
I don't care if people make racist statements against other racial or ethnic groups.	0	0	0	0	0	0
I share the anger of those who face injustice because of their racial and ethnic backgrounds (16)	0	0	0	0	0	0
When I know my friends are treated unfairly because of their racial or ethnic backgrounds, I speak up for them. (21)	0	0			0	0

I get disturbed when other people experience misfortunes due to their racial or ethnic backgrounds.	0	0	0	0	0	0
I rarely think about the impact of a racist or ethnic joke on the feelings of people who are targeted. (17)	0	0			0	0
When I see people who come from a different racial or ethnic background succeed in the public arena, I share their pride. (22)	0				0	0
I am not likely to participate in events that promote equal rights for people of all racial and ethnic backgrounds. (5)	0	0			0	0
I seek opportunities to speak with individuals of other racial or ethnic backgrounds	0	0	0	0	0	0

about their experiences. (4)					
When I interact with people from other racial or ethnic backgrounds, I show my appreciation of their cultural norms. (3)	0			0	0
I express my concern about discrimination to people from other racial or ethnic groups. (2)	0	0	0	0	0

End of Block: SEE: Empathic Feeling & Expression